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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FKP invites securityholders to its 
annual general meeting.

When: Friday 28 October 2005, at 10am.

Where:  Ballroom 3, Sofitel Brisbane, 
249 Turbot Street, Brisbane Qld.

A SECURITYHOLDER UPDATE WILL ALSO 
BE HELD IN SYDNEY.

When: Monday 31 October 2005, at 10am

Where:  Ballroom, 
The Sofitel Wentworth Sydney, 
61-101 Phillip Street, Sydney NSW.

Front cover from top to bottom:
Peregian Springs Golf Course, Sunshine Coast.
Foyer, 31 Queen Street, Melbourne.
Lexington Corporate, Norwest Business Park, Sydney.
Artise Stage One, Rosebery, Sydney.
Elston Lodge, Domain Retirement Country Club, 
Gold Coast.

Left: Peregian Springs Retirement Country Club, 
Sunshine Coast.
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HIGHLIGHTS 
• COMPOUND NET PROFIT AFTER TAX GROWTH OF 46% PA SINCE 2001
• COMPOUND DISTRIBUTION PER SECURITY GROWTH OF 43% PA SINCE 2001
• ALL FOUR BUSINESS DIVISIONS DELIVERED STRONG GROWTH IN 2004/2005 
• WELL ON TRACK TO MEET 50% RECURRING INCOME TARGET BY 2008.

PERFORMANCE SNAPSHOTPERFORMANCE SNAPSHOT

FKP 2005 ANNUAL REPORT 1

GEARING (DEBT TO BOOK ASSETS)MARKET CAPITALISATIONNET PROFIT AFTER TAXRECURRING INCOME

RECURRING 35%

NON-RECURRING 65%
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COMPANY 
       PROFILE

COMPANY PROFILE

With more than 30 years experience in the Australian property 
industry, FKP is one of Australia’s leading diversified property 
and investment groups. Originally founded in Queensland, FKP 
has grown into a truly diverse group with operations across the 
country and a ranking as an ASX top 200 company. 

FKP successfully operates with an integrated business model, 
drawing on expertise in development, construction, land 
subdivision, retirement village ownership and management, 
investment, and property & asset management.

FKP’s growth is underpinned by a commitment to deliver 
outstanding property and investment solutions that provide 
valuable returns to both our securityholders and customers.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORTCHAIRMAN’S REPORT

It is a pleasure to introduce this annual report for FKP 
Property Group, my first as Chairman. I am particularly 
pleased to have taken the chair during a year which can 
truly be described as record breaking. FKP successfully 
delivered another year of growth, with post tax earnings 
climbing 50% to $54.9m. In addition, the final distribution 
of 15.2 cents per security lifted the total for the year to 
25.03 cents (73% franked), another record. 

FKP’s aim is to maximise securityholder value, offering a 
quality source of recurring income and providing quality 
developments that preserve and protect the natural 
environment, facilitate and promote community values and 
deliver strong, ongoing returns to securityholders. 

Your Board remains committed to the ambitious growth 
targets set for the group against our strategic vision to 
become a fully diversified national property group. We are 
confident that the group’s ability to grow recurring income 
from the Retirement and Property Investment Divisions, 
plus the group’s portfolio of quality development projects 
and its dedicated and professional management team will 
see FKP continue to deliver to securityholders.

I would like to welcome Mr Len McKinnon to the Board as a 
non-executive director of both FKP Limited and FKP Funds 
Management Limited. Mr McKinnon is based in Sydney 
and has experience in property and finance, gained from a 
career of more than 25 years in investment banking. 

Again it has been an exciting and profitable year for 
the group and I would like to thank the staff for their 
professionalism and enthusiasm, which have been 
instrumental in achieving this exceptional result. 

On behalf of the Board I thank securityholders for their 
ongoing support, and I look forward to seeing as many of 
you as possible at the Annual General Meeting on 
28 October 2005.

BEN MACDONALD

Chairman

FKP 2005 ANNUAL REPORT 3

FKP4648_AR_2005_Art   3FKP4648_AR_2005_Art   3 9/9/05   2:54:00 PM9/9/05   2:54:00 PM



4 FKP 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
I am delighted to announce another record net profit 
after tax for FKP Property Group of $54.9 million for 
the year ended 30 June 2005. The result represents an 
increase of 50% from the previous year. This continues 
the very strong earnings trend evidenced in recent years, 
with compound growth in earnings after tax since 2001 
exceeding 46% pa.

The group outperformed the forecast in its Product 
Disclosure Statement issued in October 2004 by delivering 
earnings per security of 34.5 cents. This was a very pleasing 
result in an environment where some sections of the 
property market were not as strong as in previous years.

It has been an extraordinary year for the group. The 
significant increases in profit and distributions confirm 
the success of the stapling initiative that received 
overwhelming approval by shareholders at the 2004 AGM. 
This structure has proven to be the best platform for the 
group’s ambitious growth plans.

The year saw excellent performances across each of 
the group’s businesses, with all four divisions posting 
strong growth in 2004/2005, particularly the divisions that 
generate the group’s recurring income. That resulted in 
FKP achieving 35% of its earnings from recurring sources. 
The group is well on track to meet its 50% recurring 
income objective by 2008.

I was particularly pleased with the performance of FKP’s 
flagship land subdivision at Peregian Springs on the 
Sunshine Coast. Despite a softening in the residential 
land sector on a national basis, the specific attractions 
of Peregian Springs enabled it to maintain volumes and 
prices at budgeted levels. 

The group continues to maintain a very strong balance 
sheet, with net debt at 30 June 2005 being approximately 
16% of book assets. A very successful capital raising in 
late 2004 provided in excess of $130 million in new equity 
during the year. This positions the group well to look for 
growth by acquisition in the retirement investment area. 
Additionally this part of the property cycle typically gives 
rise to opportunities to acquire development properties 
at attractive prices and as such the group has and will 
continue to add to its long-term project book. 

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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Another exciting event for the group going forward is the 
anticipated settlement of the Norwest transaction due to 
be completed the latter part of 2005. In April 2005, the 
group entered conditional contracts to acquire a 49.9% 
economic interest in Norwest Limited. This transaction 
delivers on FKP’s objective of measured geographic 
expansion and will be well leveraged into the group’s 
integrated business model, providing opportunities for 
each of FKP’s business divisions. It provides the group 
with a portfolio of premium quality projects and a strong 
basis to build its first significant land investment in NSW, 
adding to the group’s first class development book across 
all business operations and geographic locations.

The dependable recurring income streams from the 
Retirement Investment and Property Investment & Funds 
Management Divisions, the first class land subdivision 
projects, the mix of commercial, retirement and residential 
development projects and the controlled interstate expansion, 
have protected FKP’s earnings in the difficult property 
market recently experienced. The group’s diversification 
has ensured strong growth and returns for securityholders.

The outlook for 2005/2006 is positive for continued growth 
in EPS and distributions, with earnings expected to reflect 
a further increase in the proportion of recurring income.

PETER BROWN

Managing Director & CEO

Top Left: Construction underway at the ‘Vue’ residential apartment 
development, Brisbane.

Top Right: FKP Senior’s Week concert.

Bottom: Peregian Springs master planned community, Sunshine Coast.
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OUR PEOPLE

Clockwise from Top Left: Sally, Reception | John, Peregian Springs Golf Club | Kim (foreground), Payroll and Bianca, Sales and Marketing | James, Sales and Marketing | Rachael, Sales and Marketing | Nina, Sales and Marketing | 
Ian, Retirement | Shayne and Sharon, Retirement | Gareth, Peregian Springs Golf Club | Stacey, Payroll | Renee, Sales and Marketing | Leanne, Retirement | Jan, Client Care | Jaime, Sales and Marketing | Ashley, Finance  | Dean, Construction | 
Irena, Retirement | Ian, Construction | Angela, Accounts Payable | Justin, Developments. 
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“FKP believes the professionalism, skills and ambition of our people are fundamental to our success. The group is focused on recruiting and 
retaining people of the highest standard and investing in those people. Thank you to each employee for your contribution to FKP’s excellent record 
of growth and superior returns provided to securityholders. Our growth is largely due to the commitment of a dedicated and diverse workforce, 
who, through individual expertise, have assisted FKP achieve its position in the marketplace.” Peter Brown, Managing Director & CEO.
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REVIEW OF 
              OPERATIONS
INVESTMENT DIVISION

During the period FKP’s recurring income 
streams were consolidated to form the 
Investment Division. The restructure 
saw the development activity, previously 
undertaken within the Retirement Division 

itself, moved to the Development Division. As a result of 
this move, the earnings now reported by the Retirement 
Investment Division consist solely of recurring income, 
such as deferred management fees (DMF) and capital 
gains on the resale of retirement village units. The 
management of the division was then merged with 
that of the Property Investment & Funds Management 
Division, so that one team has responsibility for meeting 
the group’s target of 50% recurring income by 2008.

Both the Retirement Investment and Property Investment 
businesses performed exceedingly well during the period, 
with the group lifting its recurring income to 35% of earnings.

RETIREMENT INVESTMENT

Year in Review

The Retirement Investment Division contributed 25% of 
the group’s earnings and saw its earnings increase by 
35% from the prior year. There were several contributing 
factors to this excellent result. Firstly, the number of 
units within the portfolio continues to increase each 
year, and now stands at approximately 4,000 units. 
Secondly, the portfolio has built up a high level of capital 
gain, accumulated as a result of the recent prolonged 
residential boom experienced across Australia. 

The full impact of DMF and capital gains is only seen 
when residents on-sell their units. During the year, about 
7% of the units were resold, a number lower than would 
be expected given the portfolio size and the maturity of 
the villages. In the previous two years the turnover had 
been between 9% and 10%, which is regarded as more 
indicative given the current portfolio mix. 

Despite the slowdown in the residential market in general, 
the time frame required for a typical resale to occur during 
the year was substantially unchanged from previous years. 
This illustrates that the purchase and sale of retirement 
village units are not necessarily driven by economic 
factors alone. 

The retirement portfolio continues to hold significant 
capital gains that are yet to be realised so the earnings 
trends in the division are very positive for coming years.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Above: Tim Russell, General Manager - Investments.

Top: Peregian Springs Retirement Country Club, Sunshine Coast.

Bottom: Forest Place Clayfi eld, Brisbane.
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Outlook

Whilst the current retirement portfolio provides organic 
growth through the realisation of accumulated capital 
gains, as noted above, FKP is dedicated to further 
expanding its retirement business. The expansion will be 
driven by a range of factors, including the continuing roll 
out of the existing development pipeline (approximately 1,200 
units), and the acquisition of existing retirement villages. 
Although this sector is increasingly competitive with new 
players attracted to the quality income stream it provides, 
it is FKP’s 15 years of experience in owning, operating 
and developing retirement villages that gives the group a 
strong competitive advantage in the fragmented industry. 

 

Top and Bottom: Peregian Springs Retirement Country Club, 
Sunshine Coast.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT AND FUNDS MANAGEMENT

Year in review

Due to the diversification in location, sector and size, 
FKP’s newly created property investment portfolio 
performed very well during the period. That performance, 
along with another record result for FKP’s managed fund 
product (FKP Commercial Property Trust No.1) saw the 
division deliver 10% of the group’s total earnings in its 
embryonic year. 

At year end the portfolio comprised three office assets 
and two retail assets, with another shopping centre under 
construction. As a result of active asset management 
the office assets were fully leased at year end. The two 
operating retail assets, at Indooroopilly and Ferny Grove 
in Brisbane, were fully leased by income at year end, 
and performing above expectations.

Outlook

FKP has a committed growth focus on this newly created 
business as the group works towards providing underlying 
earnings stability to securityholders by reaching its stated 
target of 50% recurring income by 2008. The group also 
places importance on broadening its access to capital 
through the provision of funds management products.

FKP is committed to launching new products during 2006 
and to continuing to source investment opportunities to 
add to the existing property portfolio. Opportunities will be 
sourced both externally and internally, given the group’s 
ability to build quality property through its development 
and construction skill sets. This will increasingly become a 
vital competitive advantage for the group, with all property 
trusts finding it difficult to source attractive properties at 
acceptable yields. 

With this commitment to the growth of Property 
Investment and Funds Management in mind, the group 
has made several senior appointments during 2005 in 
order to achieve these objectives.

REVIEW OF 
          OPERATIONS CONT.

Top: Indooroopilly Junction Shopping Centre, Brisbane.

Bottom: 31 Queen Street, Melbourne.
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LAND DIVISION

FKP’s Land Division is focused on 
delivering premium quality residential 
land in metropolitan and regional areas 
throughout Queensland, New South Wales 
and Victoria. The activities undertaken by 

the division range from small infill projects, such as The 
Precinct at Castle Hill in Sydney, to large scale master 
planned communities such as the Peregian Springs 
Estate on Queensland’s Sunshine Coast.

Year in review

While national residential markets experienced some 
softening during the period, the prime locations and 
outstanding quality of FKP’s product saw the group’s land 
developments perform strongly during the period to 
deliver 20% earnings growth. The division contributed 43% 
of the group’s operating earnings before interest and tax.

Peregian Springs performed exceptionally well, despite 
first half lot sales being affected by lack of completed 
inventory. Second half sales were very strong, resulting 
in the full year sales volume finishing at the higher end 
of the 150 – 200 lot sales that are targeted annually. In 
addition, the result was assisted by the sale of a school 
site to the Queensland Government in August 2004, which 
contributed approximately $7m to operating earnings.

During the period the group entered into conditional 
contracts to acquire a 49.9% economic interest in Norwest 
Limited. Norwest provides FKP with a portfolio of premium 
quality projects, which include approximately 1,500 
residential lots in growth areas of Sydney. This is the first 
significant augmentation of the group’s land bank and 
delivers on the group’s strategic objective of diversifying 
operations into other attractive markets to complement 
South East Queensland.

Other pleasing news during the period was the receipt of 
development approval for Coolum Ridges, a 173ha site to 
be developed adjacent to the Peregian Springs estate. This 
approval is now under appeal.

Outlook

FKP’s current land holdings are well positioned in all 
respects to deal with the difficult wider market that is 
currently being experienced. In addition, the management 
in this division has over 30 years experience, and has the 
skills to maximise profit at any point of the property cycle.

The introduction of the South East Queensland 
Regional Plan by the Queensland State Government has 
underscored the value of Peregian Springs and Coolum 
Ridges, as the Plan has reinforced the amount of land 
available for short term residential development in those 
parts of the Sunshine Coast where the group currently 
operates. Interstate migration and strong employment 
growth continue to underpin strong economic conditions 
in the Sunshine Coast, and the group confidently expects 
to maintain strong earnings from this division for the 
foreseeable future. 

Above Left: Bryan Jackson, General Manager - Land.

Top: Peregian Springs masterplanned community, Sunshine Coast.

Bottom: Ocean Acres land sub-division, Torquay, Victoria.
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QUEENSLAND

Year in review
It was another strong year for Queensland commercial, retail and 
industrial markets, and the group successfully completed and settled 
the Brisbane industrial projects at Rocklea and Paradise Road,with 
continued development of Gateway. Construction of Redbank Plains 

Shopping Centre commenced with over 80% of retail space pre-committed. 

The apartment market tightened across Australia, particularly in the southern 
states. Queensland’s markets remained strong for a longer period, and FKP 
benefi ted with solid earnings from the completion of the 212 Margaret St 
(Brisbane CBD) and Seamark on First (Sunshine Coast) developments. The period 
also saw about 100 new retirement village units sold, although this fi gure is at 
the bottom end of the annual range, with a lot of stock being completed late in 
the fi nancial year. 

In anticipation of a slowing in the apartment market, FKP took the decision two 
years ago to lighten its exposure in the current period. That strategy has proven 
sound, and in 2005/2006, development earnings will be more focussed on 
industrial markets, where conditions have remained very strong. However, the 
group does not expect the residential cycle to remain down for long, and the 
future development pipeline was expanded during the year with the acquisition 
of two residential sites in Brisbane (West End and Newstead). The Newstead 
acquisition is an adjunct to the group’s high profi le urban renewal project at 
Newstead Riverpark. 

The group also entered a joint venture to redevelop the Rydges Reef Resort in 
Port Douglas, and contracted to acquire a 40 ha industrial site in Mackay.

Outlook
Industrial and retail markets are set to remain robust into 2006 and 2007. FKP 
will continue to roll out developments across each of the business sectors with 
Redbank, and apartment projects Vue and Soho, to be delivered in 2006. 

Development applications for the mixed-use developments at Newstead 
Riverpark and Milton are scheduled to be lodged in late 2005.

DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
FKP is engaged in the full spectrum 
of development activities, with 
a mix of retirement, residential, 
industrial and commercial projects 
across Queensland, New South 
Wales and Victoria. 

The Development Division generated 
earnings of $19.4m, an increase 
of 11% over prior year. This was a 
strong result given difficult market 
conditions, particularly relating to 
increases in construction costs.

The division remains focused on 
sourcing retirement, mixed-use, 
industrial and retail opportunities 
which may also provide future 
investments for the FKP Property 
Trust and future funds management 
products. This therefore provides 
the group with a competitive 
advantage in an environment of 
relatively tight property yields.

Above Right: Matthew Miller, 
Queensland Manager.

Top: ‘Seamark on First’ residential apartment 
development, Sunshine Coast.

Bottom: Mackay Industrial Park, Central Qld.

REVIEW OF 
          OPERATIONS CONT.
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NEW SOUTH WALES

Year in review
The NSW Development Division achieved an 
outstanding result from its Pinnacle Estate 
commercial development, which sold out 
during the year with above-budget margins.

The division has positioned itself for growth in profi tability 
with the commencement of the Lexington Corporate project, 
and the apartment development at Rosebery (Stage 1)
commencing construction. Lexington is the Stage 2 successor 
to Pinnacle, located within the world-class Norwest 
Business Park, and is already enjoying strong pre-sales. 
FKP also entered a joint venture for a commercial project at 
Brookvale that has attracted strong interest because of its 
unique approach to the work and lifestyle balance. 

Building upon the group’s knowledge of Norwest obtained 
from the Pinnacle and Lexington projects, the partial 
acquisition of Norwest Limited was announced in April 
2005. It will provide NSW development with exposure 
to some 42ha of commercial land within the Norwest 
Business Park. 

Outlook
NSW will continue to roll out its development pipeline and 
it is expected that construction will commence during 2006 
on two commercial projects, at Warriewood and Brookvale, 
as well as at the recently acquired industrial subdivision 
at Campbelltown. Construction is also expected to 
commence on Rosebery Stage 2 during 2006. 

VICTORIA

Year in review
The fi rst full year of operation for 
the group’s Victorian Division saw it 
commence construction of its commercial 
project, Carringbush Business Centre, 

in Collingwood, Melbourne. Carringbush consists of 36 
strata offi ce suites and is the group’s fi rst commercial 
development project in Victoria. Carringbush benefi ted 
from the robust Victorian industrial and commercial market, 
experiencing strong interest in terms of sales and leasing. 

The division also saw the development of approximately 
30 retirement village units during the period. These units 
were approximately 75% sold as at 30 June 2005, with the 
balance experiencing keen sales interest. 

A number of other opportunities are currently in the 
pipeline, particularly in the industrial and commercial areas.

Outlook 
FKP continues to be focused on expansion into the 
Victorian market, particularly acquiring industrial 
subdivision sites, a market that continues to show signs 
of remaining strong into the next couple of years. 

The group will continue to roll out the current retirement 
development pipeline as well as sourcing new retirement 
development acquisition opportunities.

Above Left: Evian Delfabbro, NSW Manager.

Above Right: Jason Smith, Victorian Manager.

Top: ‘Lifestyle Working’ - Brookvale, Sydney (artist impression).

Bottom: Carringbush Business Centre, Collingwood, Melbourne.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT
Help us to help the 
environment with eTree 

We are proud to be foundation members of eTree, an incentive scheme 
to encourage shareholders of Australian companies to receive their 
shareholder communications electronically.  Register your email address 
at www.eTree.com.au/fkp and in return we will donate $2 to Landcare 
Australia to support reforestation projects in your home state or territory.

As a national organisation, FKP accepts its responsibility to achieve 
synergy between business operations, community and the environment. 
This responsibility is underpinned by a commitment at every level of the 
organisation to continually raise the benchmark, delivering environmentally 
sustainable developments and working in partnership with local community 
groups and organisations.

FKP continues to work closely with councils, government agencies and 
recognised environmental authorities to develop creative, sustainable 
design solutions to maximise energy efficiency and protect environmentally 
significant features.

In line with this commitment, FKP with the support of Greening Australia 
Queensland continues its work to secure the long-term survival of an 
endangered species found exclusively on the Sunshine Coast – the Emu 
Mountain She-Oak.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

®

Left: Greening Australia representatives manage the planting of Emu Mountain She-Oak.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORSBOARD OF DIRECTORS

P R Brown: LLB(Hons) B.Com. 
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (Age 39)
Joined the Board as managing director in February 2003. He 
has in excess of 20 years experience in property having held 
senior executive positions in national ASX listed companies 
including Thakral Holdings Group Ltd, Walker Corporation 
Limited and Australand Holdings Limited.

R T Forrester: Non-Executive Director (Age 54)
Joined the Board in 1987 and served as managing director 
up until 2003. He is a founding director of FKP Limited with 
over 30 years experience in construction and property 
development. He was a member of the University of the 
Sunshine Coast Council from 1996 to 2002 serving as deputy 
Chancellor from 1998. He was also the founding Chairman of 
Matthew Flinders Anglican College. He is currently a director 
of Sunshine Coast Helicopter Rescue Service Ltd.

D C Crombie: BEc Non Executive Director (Age 61)
Joined the Board in 2001. He has had more than 35 years 
experience in management, mainly in rural industries and 
organisations. He stepped down as Managing Director of 
GRM International Pty Ltd in June 2000 and remains on the 
Board. He has also been involved in property development 
activities on the Sunshine Coast and Brisbane. He is currently 
Chairman of Meat and Livestock Australia and is President of 
the Queensland Rugby Union.

B W Macdonald: Non Executive Chairman (Age 72) 
Joined the Board in 1993 and elected Chairman in October 
2004. Since retiring in 1985 as joint Managing Director of 
Macdonald Hamilton and Co Ltd, he has served as a director 
of a number of Australian public companies, some of which 
were Perpetual Trustees Australia Ltd (Chairman), AMP 
Society (Australia Board), Placer Pacific Ltd, CSR Limited 
and Allgas Energy Ltd. His current directorships include 
Queensland Cotton Holdings Ltd (Chairman), AP Eagers Ltd 
(Chairman), Reef Casino Trust (Chairman) and Brisbane Lions 
Football Club Limited. Mr Macdonald was also a director of 
Bank of Queensland Limited from 1 July 1992 to 4 April 2003, 
and Casinos Austria International Limited from 24 October 
1994 to 30 September 2004.

P Parker: Non-Executive Director (Age 59)
Joined the Board in 1987. He is a founding director of FKP 
Limited with over 35 years experience as a real estate 
agent and property developer. He is a registered real estate 
agent having operated real estate businesses in Darwin 
and on the Sunshine Coast. He spent 7 years in Brisbane 
and the Northern Territory in a marketing capacity for one 
of Queensland’s largest land developers. In 1975, Mr Parker 
moved to the Sunshine Coast and subsequently established 
his own real estate business expanding into property 
management, body corporate administration and the sale and 
leasing of commercial buildings.

D J Forrester: Non-Executive Director (Age 52)
Joined the Board in 1987. He is a founding director of FKP 
Limited with over 30 years experience in construction 
and property development. He moved to the Sunshine 
Coast in 1981 to join the group as Construction Manager 
of the Building Division. From 1986 to June 2000 he was 
the managing director of FKP Constructions Pty Ltd with 
responsibility for all construction activities Australia wide.

L R McKinnon: LLB M.Com. Non Executive Director (Age 51)
Joined the Board in May 2005. He has extensive experience 
in property and other financing gained through more than 
25 years in investment banking. He was responsible for 
establishing the property finance business of Bankers Trust 
Australia Limited in 1993 and in 1999 he set up his own 
specialist financial group, Winchester Property Services 
Limited. He is also a director of Gresham Property Funds 
Management Limited which manages mezzanine loan funds 
for property development and investment.

B W MACDONALD P R BROWN R T FORRESTER P PARKER D J FORRESTER D C CROMBIE L R MCKINNON
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The Directors present their report together with the Financial Statements of the FKP Property Group (‘Combined Group’) 
consisting of FKP Limited (‘Parent Entity’) and its controlled entities and FKP Property Trust (‘Property Trust’) for the year 
ended 30 June 2005 and the auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS
The directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited, as Responsible Entity of FKP Property Trust, during the 
year and until the date of this report are B W Macdonald, P R Brown, R T Forrester, P Parker, D J Forrester, D C Crombie, 
L R McKinnon (appointed 12 May 2005) and J E Jamieson (resigned 29 October 2004).

All directors shown were in office from the beginning of the year until the date of this report, unless otherwise stated. The 
following directors, B W Macdonald, P Parker, D J Forrester and D C Crombie were appointed to the Board of FKP Funds 
Management Limited in August 2004.

The details, qualifications and experience of the current directors are detailed on page 15 of the Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by each 
of the directors of the Combined Group during the financial year are:

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS AUDIT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended

B W Macdonald 13 13 5 5 2 2
P R Brown 13 13 - - - -
R T Forrester 13 9 - - 2 2
P Parker 13 10 - - - -
D J Forrester 13 11 - - - -
D C Crombie 13 12 5 5 - -
L R McKinnon2 2 2 1 1 - -
J E Jamieson3 6 4 2 2 1 1

1 Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.
2 Appointed 12 May 2005
3 Resigned 29 October 2004

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Trevor Toner BBus FCIS CPA was appointed to the position of company secretary in July 1991. Trevor has more than 
25 years finance and corporate experience. He is responsible for the Company Secretarial, Compliance and Corporate 
Governance functions within the Combined Group. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Combined Group during the course of the financial year were:

• Development and management of retirement villages.

• Investment in and management of office and commercial property.

• Development for resale of land, residential and commercial property.

• Commercial and residential building and construction for the group and external parties.

• Funds management.

• Property and project marketing.

STATE OF AFFAIRS
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Combined Group included:

•  On 12 November 2004 the shares in the Parent Entity were stapled to the units in the Property Trust on a one for one basis 
to form the Combined Group. The Combined Group was established for the purpose of facilitating a joint quotation of the 
Property Trust and the Parent Entity on the Australian Stock Exchange (‘ASX’). The constitutions of the Property Trust and 
Parent Entity ensure that, for as long as the two entities remain jointly quoted, the number of units of the Property Trust 
and the number of shares in the Parent Entity shall be equal and that unitholders and shareholders be identical, except for 
the 10 units in the Property Trust owned by the Parent Entity.

REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
This is the first year end reporting period for the Combined Group. The comparatives (consolidated 2004 figures) comprise 
FKP Limited and its controlled entities, which included the Property Trust. The operating profit attributable to stapled 
securityholders represents an increase of approximately 50% over the previous corresponding period. Earnings per security 
during the period was 34.5 cps, an increase of 12.2% over the previous corresponding period.

The operating result for the year ended 30 June 2005 was as follows:
COMBINED GROUP

2005
$’000

2004
$’000

Profit from ordinary activities before related income tax expense  71,321  52,977
Income tax (expense)/benefit relating to ordinary activities  (15,581)  (16,166)
Net profit  55,740  36,811
Net profit attributable to outside equity interests  (804)  (135)
Net profit attributable to members of the Combined Group  54,936  36,676

Distributions
The Combined Group will pay a final distribution for the year of 15.2 cents per security (‘cps’), for a total ordinary distribution 
of 25.03 cps. This represents an increase of 67% on the 15 cps paid in respect of the previous financial year. 

Divisional Restructuring 
During the year, a number of changes were made to the Combined Group’s internal reporting structures, and these are 
reflected in a new form of segment reporting within the accompanying financial statements. 

Consistent with the Combined Group’s objective of sourcing at least 50% of earnings from recurring sources by 2008, a new 
“Investments” division was formed, which is responsible for the two key streams of recurring income: Firstly DMF and capital 
gains income from the Combined Group’s portfolio of retirement villages (“Retirements Investments”), and secondly income 
from the Combined Group’s holdings of income producing assets and fee income from its funds management activities 
(“Property Investment and Funds Management”). 

Although both of these activities are under the control of a single executive, they are important enough in their own right to 
warrant reporting as distinct segments.

As part of this restructuring, the development of new units in retirement villages became the responsibility of the 
development executive in each state. The “Developments” division now comprises the Combined Group’s development 
of commercial and residential projects, and that of new retirement village units. “Developments” also incorporates the 
Combined Group’s construction activity, since the majority of the construction work undertaken by the Combined Group 
relates to in-house development. 

The Land Division has not changed in scope during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

Divisional Profi t Contribution
The Retirements Investments Division contributed $23.0m towards earnings before interest and tax (“EBIT”), an increase of 
35% on prior year. (The prior year figure has been restated to reflect the new reporting structure.) This figure was derived on 
revenue of $39m, compared with $24m in the previous year. 

The increase in both revenue and profits partly reflects the inclusion of a full year of results of Forest Place Group Limited, in 
which the Parent Entity had acquired a controlling stake in February 2004. It also reflects the increase in DMF accrual (as the 
number of units in the portfolio increases every year) and the higher profit margin on resales. There were 253 resales during 
the year, a statistically low number given that the size of the portfolio is approaching 4,000 units and the average age of the 
residents is now 80 years old.

The Property Investments and Funds Management Division grew significantly in scale during the year, with its EBIT 
contribution growing from $0.8m to $10.1m. At year end, the Division had approximately $140m of assets generating rental 
income, and managed approximately $65m of assets for external investors.

The Land Division contributed $38.2m to EBIT in 2005, compared with $31.8m over the previous year. The major contributor 
to profit was the flagship project at Peregian Springs. In the first half of the financial year, the Combined Group sold a 
6ha parcel for use as a Queensland Government school site for $10m. When one-off effects are removed, the underlying 
performance of the division was similar to last year. This was a strong result in a period in which difficult market conditions 
prevailed.

The Developments Division contributed EBIT of $19.4m, an increase of 11% over the prior year’s figure of $17.5m. This 
is a very strong result given that some markets experienced construction cost pressures, and reflects the benefits of the 
Combined Group’s diversity of operations. The Combined Group is able to adjust its development book between residential, 
commercial and retirement projects, depending on the outlook for different industry and geographic segments. 

Capital Structure and Gearing
During the year, the Combined Group completed its stapling initiative, referred to earlier in this report, and thereafter 
completed an institutional placement of $110m of new stapled securities. This was followed in December 2004 by the issue 
of a further $23m of new securities to retail securityholders under the Security Purchase Plan. As a result of these issues, the 
number of securities on issue rose to 176,017,115 by June 30, 2005.

The Combined Group maintained a very healthy level of gearing during the year. At June 30, 2005, the net interest-bearing 
debt stood at $97.1m, which represented 15% of total book assets. 

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
Dividends and distributions paid or declared by the Combined Group to members since the end of the previous financial year were:

Type
Cents 

per security
Total Amount

$’000
Franked

%(2)
Date of 

payment
- Final 2004 ordinary 8.00 10,650 100% 15 October 2004
- Special 25.00 33,279 100% 12 November 2004
- Interim 2005 ordinary 9.83 17,298 86.5% 16 April 2005
- Final 2005 ordinary(1) 15.20 26,755 65.7% 14 October 2005

87,982

(1) Declared but not yet paid
(2)  The franked percentage is a weighted average percentage incorporating the Property Trust which is unfranked.

All the franked dividends paid or declared by the Combined Group (excluding the Property trust distribution) since the end of 
the previous financial year were franked at 30%.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Combined Group undertakes property development in various states. It is subject to State legislation regulating 
development on land. Consents, approvals and licenses are generally required for all developments and it is usual for them 
to be granted subject to conditions. The Combined Group complies with these requirements by ensuring that all necessary 
consents, approvals and licenses are obtained prior to any project being commenced, and consents, approvals and licenses 
are implemented in order to ensure compliance with conditions. To the best of the directors’ knowledge, all activities are and 
have been undertaken in compliance with these requirements.

EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Parent Entity and the Responsible 
Entity, to affect significantly the operations of the Combined Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Combined Group in future years. Further developments by the time of the AGM will, as appropriate, be reported in the 
Chairman’s address to that meeting.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 
The Combined Group will continue to pursue its policy of increasing the profitability of its major business segments during the 
next financial year. At the date of this report, there has been one key development in the operations of the Combined Group 
that is likely to be finalised in the next financial year. On 21 April 2005 the Combined Group and Mulpha Australia Limited 
(Mulpha) announced the Combined Group’s intended off market acquisition of a 49.9% economic interest in Mulpha Norwest 
Limited (Norwest). The Combined Group executed a conditional acquisition contract at $143 m to be funded by an issue 
of 19.5m Combined Group securities to Mulpha at the lower of $3.60 per security or a 7% discount to a weighted average 
security price on completion, with the remainder funded by cash. Completion of the acquisition is subject to finalisation of the 
Combined Group’s due diligence and Mulpha’s regulatory and shareholder approval, and the estimated date of settlement is 
30 September 2005. The specific date of settlement cannot be determined until regulatory approvals are finalised, but in any 
event the transaction is economically effective from 1 January 2005 and entitles the Combined Group to its share of Norwest 
profits to completion as a purchase price adjustment.

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Combined Group and the expected results of those 
operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the information would be likely 
to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Combined Group.

OPTIONS
During or since the end of the financial year, the Combined Group has not granted any options over unissued ordinary 
securities to the directors or employees of the Combined Group. The names of all holders of options are entered in the 
Combined Group’s register, inspection of which may be made free of charge.

REMUNERATION REPORT
A Remuneration Report attached at page 22 provides details of the remuneration and equity holdings of directors and 
specified executives and forms part of the Directors’ Report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each director in the issued capital of the Combined Group, at the date of this report is as follows:

ORDINARY SECURITIES
2005 2004

B W Macdonald 27,113 25,489
P R Brown - -
R T Forrester 7,012,937 12,008,065
P Parker 12,741,934 12,738,686
D J Forrester 1,190,821 2,390,821
D C Crombie 98,737 95,489
L R McKinnon - -

Pursuant to the Managing Director’s Share Plan, approved at the 2003 Annual General Meeting, Mr P R Brown became 
entitled to receive 387,912 ordinary securities in the Combined Group on the fifth anniversary of his employment with the 
Combined Group. More details about this entitlement are contained in the Remuneration Report.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

Indemnification
Pursuant to the Constitution of the Parent Entity all directors and officers, past and present, have been indemnified against all 
liabilities allowed under the law. The Parent Entity has entered into agreements, with each of the following current directors, 
Mr B W Macdonald, Mr P R Brown, Mr R T Forrester, Mr P Parker, Mr D J Forrester, Mr D C Crombie and Mr L R McKinnon, 
to indemnify those directors against all liabilities to another person which may arise from their position as directors of the 
Combined Group to the extent permitted by law. The agreement stipulates that the Parent Entity will meet the full amount of 
any such liabilities, including reasonable legal costs and expenses.

Insurance Premiums
During or since the end of the previous financial year, the Combined Group has paid premiums in respect of directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance contracts, for the current and former directors and officers, including executive officers of 
the company and directors, executive officers and secretaries of its controlled entities. Under the terms of the insurance 
contract, disclosure of the extent of the cover and the amount of the premium is prohibited by a confidentiality clause.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Combined Group has a formally constituted Audit Committee of the Board of directors. The members of the Audit 
Committee are Mr D C Crombie (Chairman), Mr J E Jamieson (resigned 29 October 2004), Mr B W Macdonald and 
Mr L R McKinnon (appointed 12 May 2005).

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
During the year PKF, the Combined Group’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to statutory duties. The 
Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance with written advice 
provided by resolution of the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the year by 
the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act for 
the following reasons:

•  All non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Combined Group and have 
been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor;

•  The non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
Professional Statement F1 Professional Independence, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management capacity for the Combined Group, acting as an advocate for the Combined Group or jointly 
sharing risks or rewards; and

•  Services were performed by persons not in the audit team.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Combined Group, PKF, and its related practices for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below. In addition, amounts paid to other auditors for the statutory audit have been disclosed.

2005
$

STATUTORY AUDIT
Auditors of the Combined Group
 - Audit and review of financial reports (PKF Chartered Accountants) 178,635
Other Auditors
- Audit and review of financial reports (KPMG Australia) 67,470

246,105 

SERVICES OTHER THAN STATUTORY AUDIT
PKF Chartered Accountants
- Procedures reports 7,955
- Due diligence services 7,500
PKF Investment Services Pty Ltd
- Due diligence services 82,000
Other Auditors
- Compliance audit 2,500

99,955

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
We confirm that we have obtained a declaration of independence from our auditors which is set out on page 21.

ROUNDING
The Combined Group, the Parent Entity and the Property Trust are all entities of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 
dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the Financial Report have been rounded to the 
nearest one thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

B W MACDONALD P R BROWN
Chairman  Managing Director

Dated at Brisbane this 25th day of August 2005.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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To: The Directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP Property Trust

As lead engagement partner for the audit of FKP Property Group comprising FKP Limited and its controlled entities and FKP 
Property Trust for the year ended 30 June 2005, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

(a)   no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(b)   no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

PKF   CG BELLAMY
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS Partner
Brisbane Partnership

Dated at Brisbane this 25th day of August, 2005. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S DECLARATION YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
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REMUNERATION REPORT YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for directors, the CEO and the specified executives. The members of the remuneration committee are 
Mr B W Macdonald, Mr R T Forrester and Mr J E Jamieson (resigned 29 October 2004). The Combined Group’s remuneration 
policy is to ensure that remuneration packages properly reflect the person’s duties and responsibilities and that the 
remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality.

The remuneration structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement 
of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creating value for securityholders. The remuneration structures 
take into account a range of factors, including the following:

•  The capability and experience of the directors and specified executives;

•  The directors’ and specified executives’ requirement to utilise those skills in the furtherance of the Combined Group’s 
strategic objectives;

•  The performance of the director or specified executive in his or her particular role;

•  The Combined Group’s overall performance;

•  The remuneration levels being paid by competitors for similar positions; and

•  The need to ensure continuity of executive talent and smooth succession planning.

In assessing the performance of a particular executive, the Remuneration Committee has regard to more than the immediate 
profit and loss performance. The nature of property development and investment is such that decisions are constantly being 
taken that will not have profit repercussions for several years.

Examples include the acquisition of land for future development, the process of development itself, the opening of new 
offices, and the development of new retirement villages where significant DMF proceeds may not be received for several 
years. Moreover, the evaluation of executive performance also has regard to the executive’s effectiveness in developing a 
capable support team, and in showing leadership qualities and instilling positive cultural vales within his or her division.

Remuneration packages include a mix of fixed remuneration, performance-based remuneration, and equity-based 
remuneration.

Fixed remuneration

Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges 
related to employee benefits including motor vehicles, car parking and other specified benefits), as well as employer 
contributions to superannuation funds.

Remuneration levels are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee through a process that considers the factors 
outlined above.

Performance based remuneration

All employees (but not including non-executive directors) may receive bonuses based on the achievement of goals relating 
to the performance of the Combined Group (including annual performance relative to budget and a range of quantitative and 
qualitative factors in the case of the managing director and CEO and specified executives). 

Non-executive directors do not receive any performance related remuneration.

Equity based remuneration

The Combined Group provides equity-based remuneration to specified executives and all eligible employees through the 
operation of the following plans. 

• Employee Security Plan (ESP)

• Employee Option Plan (EOP)

Details of the plans are provided in Note 27 “Employee Benefits”. No securities were issued to employees during the year 
under either plan. 

Discussion on the relationship between the remuneration policy and the Combined Group’s performance

In considering the Combined Group’s performance and the benefits for securityholders’ wealth the Remuneration Committee 
have had regard to the following in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years:

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Net profit ($’000) 54,936 36,676 26,741 17,090 12,059
EPS (cents) 34.5 30.7 23.5 15.1 10.7
Dividends paid ($’000) 77,331 19,862 13,752 11,326 6,792
DPS – special (cents) 25.0 - - - -
DPS - ordinary (cents) 25.0 15.0 12.0 10.0 6.0
Security price at year end ($) $2.83 $2.82 $3.00 $1.13 $0.83
Market capitalisation ($’000) 498,128 373,194 343,689 128,076 93,952
Return of capital ($’000) 99,837 - - - -

The Remuneration Committee considers that the Combined Group’s remuneration policy including the mix of performance
-based and equity-based remuneration components is generating desirable outcomes. The evidence of this is the 
performance of the Combined Group over the last five years where:

•  EPS has increased from 10.7 cents per security to 34.5 cents per security;

•  DPS has increased from 6 cents per security to 25 cents per security; and 

•  the security price has increased from $0.92 at 30 June 2000 to $2.83 at 30 June 2005, an average increase of 41.5% 
per annum;

The above increases have occurred over a period during which the Combined Group has grown in size both in terms of issued 
capital (56%) and market capitalisation (379%). 

It is emphasised again, however, that the Remuneration Committee look at a range of factors in addition to historical 
performance when evaluating the contribution of the managing director and CEO and a specified executive.

FKP4648_FinancialReport_Art.indd   22FKP4648_FinancialReport_Art.indd   22 9/9/05   2:57:05 PM9/9/05   2:57:05 PM



FKP 2005 ANNUAL REPORT 23

DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of the remuneration of each director of the Combined Group and the 
specified executives including each of the five named officers of the Combined Group receiving the highest emoluments are 
detailed below. 

Specified Directors

The names and position held by each person holding a position of specified directors of the Combined Group during the 
financial year were:

Mr Ben Macdonald Chairman (Non-Executive) (previously non-executive director until appointed Chairman 
on 29 October 2004)

Mr Peter Brown Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Rod Forrester Non-Executive Director

Mr Philip Parker Non-Executive Director

Mr David Crombie Non-Executive Director

Mr Des Forrester Non-Executive Director

Mr Len McKinnon Non-Executive Director (appointed 12 May 2005)

Mr John Jamieson Chairman (Non-Executive) (resigned 29 October 2004)

Specified Executives

The names and position held by each person being a specified executive of the Combined Group during the financial year were:

Mr Darryl Guihot Chief Financial Officer (appointed 27 September 2004)
Mr Trevor Toner Group Company Secretary
Mr Tim Russell General Manager – Investments 

(previously General Manager - Funds Management, up to 31 December 2004)
Mr Charles MacDonald General Manager – Retirement (resigned 31 December 2004)
Mr Matthew Miller Queensland Development Manager 
Ms Evian Delfabbro Manager – New South Wales 

(previously NSW Residential Development Manager, up to 10 October 2004)
Mr Scott Ponton Manager – Victoria (resigned 1 April 2005)
Mr Glen Brown Manager – Corporate Services 

(specified executive with responsibility for finance until 24 September 2004)

REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
Directors’ fees

Non-executive director fees are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee. In 2002, shareholders resolved that 
the maximum amount payable to non-executive directors should not exceed $500,000. For the current financial year the 
Chairman received $150,000 and the base fee for other non-executive directors was $50,000 per annum. These fees cover 
all main board activities. Additional fees are paid to members of the following Board Committees:

•  Audit committee: $5,000 to the Chairman, $1,000 to each other committee member; and 

•  Remuneration Committee: no additional fees are payable.

Retirement benefits 

The Combined Group Directors’ Retirement Scheme provides certain benefits to non-executive directors who have served 
in that capacity for in excess of five years. The benefit payable is the total average annual remuneration paid to a director 
for the three years immediately prior to the director’s retirement less any payment made to them by the Combined Group’s 
superannuation fund. This scheme has not been approved by securityholders as the scheme complies with that allowed 
under the Corporations Act 2001.

The scheme does not apply to directors first appointed after 30 June 2004.

Performance based remuneration 

Non-executive directors do not receive any performance related remuneration 

Equity-based remuneration

Non-executive directors are paid a directors’ fee and do not receive any performance related remuneration. Pursuant to the 
Combined Group’s Directors’ Securities Plan (‘DSP’), which was approved at the 2002 AGM and amended at the 2003 and 
2004 AGMs, eligible non-executive directors can elect to receive their directors’ fees by way of securities, in the Combined 
Group, in lieu of cash after taking into account any FBT payable by the Combined Group. Securities allocated under the DSP 
can either be issued by the Group or purchased on market. 

REMUNERATION OF THE MANAGING DIRECTOR & CEO
The managing director & CEO has a 5 year contract of employment commencing from 10 February 2003, with an option for a 
further 5 year term. It allows for a base salary of $400,000 per annum, with annual increases of 10 percent during the initial 
term, commencing from 1 July 2004. For the financial year just ended, his base salary was $440,000.

In addition to his base salary, Mr Brown also receives a relocation allowance amounting to $70,000 per annum.

The managing director’s employment may be terminated by either the managing director or by the Combined Group on the 
giving of 6 month’s prior written notice or by payment in lieu thereof. 

The managing director will be entitled to receive a severance payment equal to 24 months’ base salary if his employment is 
terminated in the following circumstances:

•  if following a merger, reconstruction or takeover of the Combined Group, he is not appointed the most senior executive 
officer of the merged or reconstructed group; or

•  if at the instigation of the Board he ceases to be the most senior executive officer of the Combined Group (otherwise than 
as a result of serious misconduct or incompetence).

The managing director is entitled to long service leave, 8 days sick leave and 20 days annual leave. Accruals and payments in 
respect of these entitlements are disclosed as “Primary” remuneration.

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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Performance based remuneration

The managing director’s performance based remuneration package is divided into two components:

•  a short term (annual) performance bonus which must not exceed the amount payable to Mr Brown in the form of the base 
salary for the year (subject to the achievement of performance objectives as set by the Board). Mr Brown can elect to 
take 50% or more of the bonus by way of securities in the Combined Group (“Performance Bonus Shares”).

  The performance objectives by the Board annually take into account the following performance indicators: profitability, 
progress towards the strategic plan, leadership, culture and investment community profile.

•  an annual super bonus equal to 2.5% of the amount by which net profit after tax (NPAT) exceeds the Board approved 
budget for the year (subject to NPAT being 120% or more of budget). No super bonus was payable to Mr Brown for the 
period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005.

Equity based remuneration

At the 2003 Annual General Meeting, shareholders approved an arrangement whereby, at the fifth anniversary of his 
employment with the Combined Group, if Mr Brown remained the managing director and CEO, he would be entitled to 
be issued with shares in FKP Limited (‘Retention Bonus Shares’), having a value of $1 million determined at the weighted 
average price of the FKP Limited shares during the 5 trading days before the date of FKP Limited’s 2003 Annual General 
Meeting. Based upon this formula, if Mr Brown was still managing director and CEO on 10 February 2008 he would be 
entitled to receive 387,912 ordinary securities. 

Following the restructuring of FKP Limited in November 2004, which resulted in the formation of the Combined Group, the 
traded instrument is now a stapled security rather than a share. The Combined Group is currently obtaining advice on the 
best means to reconstitute the retention bonus plan.

The issue of these securities was not dependant on the achievement of any performance conditions by Mr Brown, other 
than remaining in the position of managing director and CEO of the Combined Group for 5 years. At the time of negotiating 
Mr Brown’s employment contract it was considered that if Mr Brown’s performance as managing director and CEO saw him 
remain in that position for 5 years then he should be entitled to such equity-based remuneration.

REMUNERATION OF SPECIFIED EXECUTIVES
Remuneration packages include a mix of fixed remuneration, performance based remuneration, and equity based 
remuneration.

Fixed remuneration

Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges 
related to employee benefits including motor vehicles, car parking and other specified benefits), as well as employer 
contributions to superannuation funds.

The specified executives are entitled to long service leave, 8 days sick leave and 20 days annual leave. Accruals and 
payments in respect of these entitlements are disclosed as “Primary” remuneration.

Performance based remuneration

Specified executives may receive bonuses determined at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee depending 
on the Combined Group’s overall performance and contribution of the specified executive to that performance, and the 
achievements of the specified executive in positioning the Combined Group for future profitability. 

Equity-based remuneration

The Combined Group provides equity-based remuneration to specified executives and all eligible employees through the 
operation of the following plans. 

•  Employee Security Plan (ESP)

•  Employee Option Plan (EOP)

Details of the plans are provided in Note 27 “Employee Benefits”. No securities were issued to specified executives during 
the year under either plan. 

Termination benefits

Notice periods and termination benefits as required by the law apply to each of the specified executives except in the case of 
the following specified executives:

 (i) The Chief Financial Officer or the Combined Group may terminate his contract on 26 weeks notice;

 (ii)  The General Manager Investments and the Manager NSW may terminate their contract with a sliding scale notice 
period, up to twelve weeks based on years of service.

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Salary & Fees Bonus
Non-monetary 

benefits
Superannuation 

benefits

Other post 
employment 

benefits3 Value of shares
Termination 

benefits 

DIRECTORS

Non-executive

B Macdonald 2005 124,389 - - 7,569 73,405 - - 205,363 -

2004 45,870 - - 4,130 10,870 - - 60,870 -

R Forrester 2005 45,872 - - 4,128 22,935 - - 72,935 -

2004 57,338 - - 12,385 45,870 - - 115,593 -

P Parker 2005 38,739 - - 11,261 10,870 - - 60,870 -

2004 2,644 - - 47,356 10,870 - - 60,870 -

D Crombie 2005 45,872 - - 4,128 - - - 50,000 -

2004 45,870 - - 4,130 - - - 50,000 -

D Forrester 2005 - - - - - - - - -

2004 - - - - - - - - -

L McKinnon 2 2005 6,289 - - - - - - 6,289 -

2004 - - - - - - - - -

J Jamieson1 2005 45,872 - - 4,128 - - 380,627 430,627 -

2004 137,615 - - 12,385 102,615 - - 252,615 -

Executive -

P Brown 2005 478,733 346,133 31,446 36,254 - 200,0004 - 1,092,566 31.7%

2004 380,327 354,000 68,390 33,028 - 266,6664 - 1,102,411 32.1%

TOTAL ALL SPECIFIED DIRECTORS 2005 785,766 346,133 31,446 67,468 107,210 200,000 380,627 1,918,650 18.0%

2004 669,664 354,000 68,390 113,414 170,225 266,666 - 1,642,359 21.6%

1 Mr Jamieson resigned from the Board in October 2004. He was replaced as Chairman by Mr Macdonald.
2  Mr McKinnon was appointed to the Board in May 2005.
3  Other post employment benefits include movement in accrued retirement benefits during the year.
4  Represents the pro rata entitlement to the Retention Bonus Shares of $1million for the relevant financial year.

PRIMARY POST EMPLOYMENT
EQUITY 

COMPENSATION
OTHER 

COMPENSATION TOTAL

PROPORTION 
OF REMUNERATION

PERFORMANCE RELATED
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Salary & Fees Bonus
Non-monetary 

benefits
Superannuation 

benefits Value of shares
Termination 

benefits 

SPECIFIED EXECUTIVES

D Guihot 2005 248,561 94,000 - 9,231 - - 351,792 26.7%

2004 - - - - - - - -

C MacDonald 2005 62,164 - 2,653 42,629 - 295,641 403,087 -

2004 276,253 149,000 13,911 91,541 4,450 - 535,155 27.8%

T Russell 2005 234,467 100,000 25,567 23,772 - - 383,806 26.1%

2004 253,459 129,000 7,169 21,912 - - 411,540 31.3%

T Toner 2005 199,014 75,000 41,663 16,511 - - 332,188 22.6%

2004 187,466 79,000 31,564 19,108 4,450 - 321,588 24.6%

S Ponton 2005 160,606 - 4,004 15,696 - 43,453 223,759 -

2004 195,847 114,000 6,412 16,863 1,000 - 334,122 34.1%

E Delfabbro 2005 216,874 75,000 7,195 19,054 - - 318,123 23.6%

2004 179,290 114,000 7,195 15,688 - - 316,173 36.1%

G Brown 2005 238,657 100,000 9,522 21,138 - - 369,317 27.1%

2004 197,153 79,000 7,564 17,157 4,450 - 305,324 25.9%

M Miller 2005 184,775 125,000 4,871 16,125 - - 330,771 37.8%

2004 21,888 - 1,013 1,829 - - 24,730 -

TOTAL ALL SPECIFIED EXECUTIVES 2005 1,545,118 569,000 95,475 164,156 - 339,094 2,712,843 21.0%

2004 1,311,356 664,000 74,828 184,098 14,350 - 2,248,632 29.5%

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Exercise of options granted as remuneration

During the reporting period, the following ordinary securities were issued on the exercise of options previously granted 
as remuneration:

Specified executive Number of securities Amount paid $/security

C MacDonald 50,000 $1.12

50,000 $1.13

T Toner 50,000 $0.81

50,000 $1.13

G Brown 50,000 $1.13

PRIMARY POST EMPLOYMENT
EQUITY 

COMPENSATION
OTHER 

COMPENSATION TOTAL

PROPORTION 
OF REMUNERATION

PERFORMANCE RELATED
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This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place and the extent to which the FKP Property Group 
(‘Combined Group’) has followed the recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council throughout the year, 
including recommendations made by the Implementation Review Group of the ASX issued on 31 March 2004, unless 
otherwise stated. In this statement the Council’s document published on 31 March 2003 is referred to as “the guidelines”.

This statement and information identified therein is available on the Combined Group’s website at www.fkp.com.au under the 
Corporate Governance section.

PRINCIPLE 1: BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Board’s primary role is the creation of long term securityholder value through the implementation of efficient internal 
controls; adopting high ethical standards in behaviour; respecting the aspirations of the Combined Group’s employees; 
offering high quality products to the market; committing to good and constant improvement of its corporate governance 
practices and acting as a good corporate citizen in the community in which the Combined Group operates.

The specific values and responsibilities adopted by the Board are detailed in the Board Charter available on the Combined 
Group’s website.

For many years the Board has developed and implemented policies and practices which ensure that the Combined Group 
complies with the recommendations and principles set out in the guidelines, while recognising that in a dynamic group with 
a small board the relationships among directors, and particularly the relationship between the chairman and the managing 
director and CEO, cannot be fully regulated and documented. The Board acknowledges that ultimately the managing director 
and CEO is responsible for the delivery of the Board’s strategic direction.

PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD STRUCTURE
During the financial year the Board comprised the following:

FROM TO
NO. OF 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
NO. OF 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
1 July 2004 29 October 2004 6 1
29 October 2004 12 May 2005 5 1
12 May 2005 30 June 2005 6 1

The names, skills and experience of the directors who held office during the financial year and as at the date of this 
Statement, and the period of office of each director, are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Independent professional advice 

Each director has the right, at the Combined Group’s expense, to seek independent professional advice in relation to the 
execution of Board responsibilities. Prior approval of the chairman, which will not be unreasonably withheld, is required. 
Where appropriate, directors share such advice with the other directors.

Independence of directors

The Board considers that of the non-executive directors who held office during the year, the following are independent:

 Ben Macdonald

 David Crombie

 Len McKinnon

 John Jamieson

Mr Phil Parker is a substantial securityholder and whilst Mr Rod Forrester is no longer a substantial securityholder, they 
together with Mr Des Forrester are the founding directors of the Parent Entity from its incorporation in 1987. They are also all 
past executive officers of the Combined Group and in the Board’s view these factors do not affect their capacity to act with 
independence in relation to any matters.

The Board distinguishes between the concept of independence, and the issues of conflict of interest or material personal 
interests which may arise from time to time. Wherever there is an actual or potential conflict of interest or material personal 
interest, the Board’s policies and procedures ensure:

•  that the interest is fully disclosed and the disclosure is recorded in the register of directors’ interests and in the Board 
minutes

•  the relevant director is excluded from all considerations of the matter by the Board

•  the relevant director does not receive any segment of the Board papers or other documents in which there is any 
reference to the matter. 

A copy of the Board’s Conflict of Interest policy is available on the Combined Group’s website.

As the determination of independence remains a matter for the Board’s judgement, the Board confirms that all directors 
considered to be independent meet the stated requirements for independence as recommended in the guidelines, except that:

•  Mr Ben Macdonald has been in office for almost 12 years, as disclosed in the Directors’ Report. The Board does not 
consider that the independence of a director can be assessed by reference to an arbitrary and set period of time. The 
Combined Group has diverse operations which have grown considerably over the past 12 years and in the Board’s view 
derives benefits from having such long-serving directors who can add value as they understand the Combined Group’s 
businesses and processes and can provide meaningful contribution to Board discussion, strategy and policy.

•  from time to time conflicts of interest may arise, particularly having regard to the diversity of the Combined Group’s 
operations. These are dealt with in accordance with the procedure outlined above for dealing with conflicts. They do not 
affect the capacity of the relevant director to act with independence in relation to all other matters. 

The chairman of the Combined Group is an independent non-executive director.

The roles of chairman and managing director and CEO are exercised by separate individuals. The Combined Group has 
published on its website its policy concerning the Role of the Chairman.

Nomination Committee

As the Combined Group has a relatively small Board, the full Board acted during the financial year as the nomination 
committee. The composition of the Board is continually under review by all directors to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate mix of expertise and experience.

When a Board vacancy occurs, as did this year when Mr John Jamieson retired as chairman, or where it is considered that 
the Board would benefit from the services of a new director with particular skills, directors are asked to nominate suitable 
candidates. The Board reviews potential candidates, with advice from external consultants if necessary, and then appoints 
the most suitable candidate.

Following Mr Jamieson’s retirement during the year and the continued expansion of the Combined Group’s activities into 
New South Wales and Victoria, the Board considered that the appointment of a Sydney-based director would be in the best 
interests of the Combined Group and accordingly Mr Len McKinnon was invited to join the Board in May 2005.

PRINCIPLE 3: ETHICAL STANDARDS
Code of Conduct

Through established practices and policies the Board supports the need for directors and employees to observe the highest 
standards of behaviour and business ethics. All directors, managers and employees are expected to act with integrity, striving 
at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the Combined Group. The Board’s policies reflect all the guidelines.

Appropriate training programs on the Combined Group’s internal policies support this process.

A formal Code of Conduct which draws together all of the Combined Group’s existing policies has been reviewed and a 
summary of its main provisions is published on the Combined Group’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Trading in company securities by directors, officers and employees

The Board has established written guidelines, set out in its Insider Trading & Dealing in the Group’s Securities Policy, that 
restrict dealings by directors and relevant employees in the Combined Group’s securities, and in securities in other companies 
related to the Combined Group’s operations.

The Insider Trading & Dealing in the Group’s Securities Policy complies with the guidelines. It identifies certain periods when, 
in the absence of knowledge of unpublished price-sensitive information, directors and relevant employees may buy or sell 
securities. These periods are the 30 days following the announcement of half year and full year results and following the 
Annual General Meeting.

A copy of the Insider Trading & Dealing in the Group’s Securities Policy is available on the Combined Group’s website.

PRINCIPLE 4: FINANCIAL REPORTING
Certification of financial reports

The Managing Director and CEO and Chief Financial Officer state in writing to the Board each reporting period that the 
Combined Group’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Combined Group’s financial 
condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The statements from the 
Managing Director and CEO and Chief Financial Officer are based on a formal sign off framework established throughout the 
Combined Group and reviewed by the Audit Committee as part of the six-monthly financial reporting process.

Audit Committee

The Combined Group has an established Audit Committee (the Committee) operating under written terms of reference 
approved by the Board. 

The Committee comprises three independent non-executive members and the chairman of the committee is not the 
chairman of the Board. During the year there was a period where the committee did not consist of at least three members 
between the retirement of Mr John Jamieson and the appointment of Mr Len McKinnon. Apart from this period of time, the 
Combined Group complies with the recommendation in the guidelines as well as Listing Rule 12.7 of ASX.

The names and qualifications of members of the Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report. Meetings of the Committee 
are attended, by invitation, by the Managing Director and CEO, the Chief Financial Officer, Group Company Secretary, the 
engagement partner from the Combined Group’s external auditor and such other senior staff or professional advisors as may 
be appropriate from time to time. 

The number of meetings of the Committee held during the year is set out in the Directors’ Report.

The Committee operates under formal terms of reference (Charter) approved by the Board which are reviewed annually. 

The functions and responsibilities of the Committee under its Charter comply with the recommendation in the guidelines.

Minutes of all Committee meetings are provided to the Board and the chairman of the Committee also reports to the Board 
after each Committee meeting. The form of the minutes and of the report comply with recommendations in the guidelines.

Auditor independence

The external auditor, PKF, has declared its independence to the Board. The Committee has examined detailed material 
provided by the external auditor and by management and has satisfied itself that the standards for auditor independence and 
associated issues are fully complied with.

The Combined Group complies with the reporting guidelines on Principle 4 in its annual report.

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are available on the Combined Group’s website.

PRINCIPLE 5: MATERIAL DISCLOSURE
The Combined Group has established a Continuous Disclosure Policy which is intended to enhance the Combined Group’s 
compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Listing Rules. A copy of 
the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available on the Combined Group’s website.

The group company secretary has primary responsibility for communications with the Australian Stock Exchange including 
responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing 
information going to the ASX, securityholders and other interested parties. 

The directors have obligations under a Disclosure of Interests and Transactions in Securities Agreement entered into with the 
Combined Group to inform the Combined Group of any trading by them in the Combined Group’s securities and of any other 
interests in contracts the director may have with a Combined Group entity. 

All announcements made to the ASX are published on the Combined Group’s website.

PRINCIPLE 6: SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION
Communications strategy

The Combined Group aims to keep securityholders informed of the Combined Group’s performance and all major 
developments in an ongoing manner. Information is communicated to securityholders through:

•  the annual report which is distributed to all securityholders (unless specifically requested otherwise);

•  the half-year securityholders’ report which is distributed to all securityholders (unless specifically requested otherwise), 
containing summarised financial information and a review of the operations during the period since the annual report; and

•  other correspondence regarding matters impacting on securityholders as required.

All documents that are released publicly are made available on the Combined Group’s web site.

Securityholders are also encouraged to participate in the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with the Combined Group’s strategies and goals. Important issues are presented to securityholders as single 
resolutions.

Securityholders can also register with the Combined Group’s share registry, Computershare Investor Services, to receive 
email notification of when the above details including ASX announcements are posted onto the Combined Group’s website. 
To further promote the use electronic communications to securityholders the Combined Group has joined the eTree initiative 
which is an incentive to encourage securityholders to receive communications from us, such as annual reports, by way of 
email. Not only does this initiative reduce our costs, it also promotes environmental responsibility.

Availability of auditor at AGM

The senior engagement partner of the Combined Group’s external auditor, PKF, attends the Combined Group’s Annual 
General Meetings and is available to answer questions from securityholders about the audit. The Chairman advises the 
securityholders of this at the commencement of each Annual General Meeting.

PRINCIPLE 7: RISK MANAGEMENT
Oversight of the risk management function

For many years the Board has developed and implemented polices and practices which ensure that the material risks facing 
the Combined Group are adequately identified, assessed, monitored and managed throughout the whole organisation. 

These include:

•  Annual budgets, divisional business plans and the Combined Group’s strategic plan are prepared for approval by directors.

•  Actual trading results for the Combined Group and each division are presented to the Board at each Board Meeting, 
compared against budget and forecast, with revised forecasts if required.

•  Comprehensive Board papers containing relevant operational, strategic, financial and legal information are prepared by 
each divisional group manager and circulated to directors before each meeting.

•  Financial authority limits have been set by the Board to delegate the Board’s approval process of such matters including 
site acquisitions and developments. Where the cost is above those delegated authorities approval of the full Board is 
required. Construction will not usually commence until the Board’s minimum level of pre-sale commitment has been achieved.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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•  Insurance cover appropriate to the size and nature of the Combined Group’s operations is carried to reduce the financial 
impact of any significant insurable losses.

As mentioned last year the Audit Committee commenced a special project to review and assess the adequacy of the 
risk management procedures adopted by the Combined Group. However given the commitment during the year to the 
implementation of the stapling strategy this project was deferred until the 2005/06 financial year.

Internal financial controls

In view of its size, its divisional structure with divisional accounting functions, and considering cost effectiveness, the 
Combined Group relies on its financial management team, led by the Chief Financial Officer and the Financial Controller, to 
perform internal audit functions. This is done with regular consultation with the external auditors but is independent of them.

The Chief Financial Officer reports in writing to and attends all Board meetings. The Chief Financial Officer also attends all 
meetings of the Audit Committee and provides written reports to that Committee, as required.

Certification of risk management controls

In conjunction with the certification of financial reports under Principle 4, the Managing Director and CEO and Chief Financial 
Officer state in writing to the Board each reporting period that:

•  the statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements 
the policies adopted by the Board.

•  the Combined Group’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively 
in all material respects.

The statements from the Managing Director and CEO and Chief Financial Officer are based on a formal sign off framework 
established throughout the Combined Group and reviewed by the Audit Committee as part of the six-monthly financial 
reporting process.

A description of the Combined Group’s risk management policy and internal compliance and control system is not yet 
available on the Combined Group’s website.

PRINCIPLE 8: BOARD PERFORMANCE
During the year the Board continued to implement the recommendations to improve the effectiveness of the Board and its 
committees following the external review undertaken during the 2003/04 financial year. No external review of the Board’s 
performance was undertaken during the current financial year, however, a review is scheduled during the 2005/06 financial year.

The Board provides induction programs for new directors in accordance with the recommendation and complies with all of 
the recommendations in relation to independent professional advice, access to the company secretary, the appointment 
and removal of the company secretary, and the provision of information, including requests for additional information. The 
company secretary attends all Board meetings.

The Managing Director and CEO is responsible for the induction, training and assessment of the Combined Group’s executive 
management team. 

PRINCIPLE 9: REMUNERATION
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for recommending and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for the directors, the managing director and the executive management team. The Remuneration Committee 
assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of such officers on a periodic basis by the reference 
to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the 
retention of a high quality Board and executive team. 

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Combined Group’s remuneration policy links the nature and amount of executive 
directors’ and officers’ remuneration to the Group’s financial and operational performance. Executives may receive bonuses 

determined at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee depending on the Combined Group’s overall performance and 
contribution of the specified executive to that performance, and the achievements of the specified executive in positioning 
the Combined Group for future profitability.

Executives are those who are directly accountable and responsible for the operational management and strategic direction of 
the Group.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, comprising three non-executive directors. Their names and 
attendance at meetings of the Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The Committee’s responsibilities are detailed in a Charter, which has been approved by the Board, and complies with the 
recommendation outlined in the guidelines.

A copy of the Charter is available on the Combined Group’s website.

Structure of remuneration

The structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration and that of executives is set out in the Remuneration Report within 
the Directors’ Report.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each director of the Combined Group and each of 
the five executive officers of the Combined Group receiving the highest remuneration for the financial year are also disclosed 
in the Remuneration Report. 

Directors’ retirement benefits

In accordance with the current terms of Directors’ Retirement Scheme, retiring non-executive directors after 5 years service 
receive a benefit up to a maximum of three times the average annual remuneration in the three years preceding retirement. 
Included in this amount is superannuation accumulated under the superannuation guarantee provisions. This scheme has not 
been approved by securityholders as the scheme complies with that allowed under the Corporations Act 2001.

The Board has suspended this scheme for any new non-executive directors appointed after 30 June 2004.

Share and option plans

The Board is responsible for reviewing recommendations in respect to issues under the Combined Group’s security and 
option plans which were approved by securityholders in October 2004 as part of the implementation of the stapling 
strategy. Directors approve issues under the plans only after being satisfied that this is in accordance with the terms of 
securityholders’ approval. 

Securities issued under the plans are set out in the relevant section of the Directors’ Report. No securities nor options were 
issued to employees pursuant to either plan during the financial year ended 30 June 2005.

PRINCIPLE 10: ACCOUNTABILITY
The Combined Group has well-established policies, procedures and codes of conduct which seek to promote a culture of 
compliance with legal requirements and ethical standards. The Board recognises that managing “natural, human, social and 
other forms of capital” may also assist in creating value for securityholders. To this end the Board seeks, by the individual 
contributions of directors and by encouraging activities of its executives, to uphold community standards and to maintain 
good relations with community and government organisations. However the Board seeks to balance these considerations 
in order to ensure that the claims of “legitimate stakeholders” do not prejudice or diminish the legitimate expectations of 
securityholders. The Board does not support a process by which companies are regulated in their dealings in these areas, 
beyond the consideration of their programs to ensure compliance with legal and ethical standards.

As indicated under Principle 3, a Code of Conduct which draws together all of the Combined Group’s policies and codes has 
been established and a summary of its main provisions is available on the Combined Group’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED
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Revenue from sale of goods   244,261 233,215 - - - -
Revenue from rendering of services   55,419 30,473 120 630 12,450 2,237
Other revenues from ordinary activities   7,468 2,846 85,722 33,562  8,080 40
Total revenue from ordinary activities 2 307,148 266,534  85,842 34,192  20,530 2,277

Cost of goods sold   (180,702) (169,707)  - -  - -
Marketing expenses   (3,478) (2,350)  - -  - -
Administration expenses   (12,814) (9,948)  (3,938) (2,519)  - -
Occupancy expenses   (2,169) (1,948)  (538) (457)  - -
Employee benefi t expenses   (24,717) (19,952)  (10,671) (5,395)  - -
Borrowing expenses 3 (8,919) (7,260)  (10,143) (8,295)  (4,893) (950)
Other expenses from ordinary activities   (2,501) (2,246)  (3,448) (994)  (3,576) (778)
Total expenses from ordinary activities   (235,300) (213,411)  (28,738) (17,660)  (8,469) (1,728)

Share of net profi ts/(losses) of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method  26 (527) (146)   - -  - -

Profi t from ordinary activities before related income tax expense   71,321 52,977  57,104 16,532  12,061 549

Income tax (expense)/benefi t relating to ordinary activities 4(a) (15,581)  (16,166)  (28,865) 88  - -

Profi t from ordinary activities after related income tax expense   55,740 36,811  28,239 16,620  12,061 549
Net profi t attributable to outside equity interests  21 (804) (135)  - -  - -

Net profi t after income tax attributable to members of the Combined Group 19 54,936  36,676  28,239 16,620  12,061 549

Non-owner transaction changes in equity
Transactions costs arising on the issue of securities 17 (5,147) (1,479)  (2,490) (1,479)  (2,657) -
Total revenues, expenses and revaluation adjustments attributable to members 
of the Combined Group recognised directly in equity 17 (5,147) (1,479)  (2,490) (1,479)  (2,657) -

Total changes in equity from non-owner transactions attributable to the members of the Combined Group 22 49,789 35,197  25,749 15,141  9,404 549

Basic earnings per stapled security (cents) 5 34.5 cents 30.7 cents 
Diluted earnings per stapled security (cents) 5 34.5 cents 30.5 cents 

The statements of fi nancial performance are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages 33 to 72

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Current assets 
Cash assets 6 29,124 22,738 21,312 16,433 4,869 910
Receivables 7 112,641 126,012 231,958 253,150 15,720 46
Inventories  9 103,201 84,150 - 511 - -
Other  11 13,205 10,658 1,377 1,193 539 320
Total current assets  258,171 243,558 254,647 271,287 21,128 1,276

Non-current assets 
Receivables 7 39,551 34,765 - - 116,294 239
Other fi nancial assets 8 3,465 3,465 61,893 61,749 - -
Investments accounted for using the equity method 26 8,974 7,574 3,627 3,054 - -
Inventories  9 92,677 68,346 - - - -
Investment properties 10 140,192 94,216 - - 140,192 94,216
Property, plant and equipment 12 78,982 74,085 1,328 1,283 - -
Intangible assets 13 8,094 8,116 - - - -
Deferred tax assets 4 (d) 3,950 8,070 3,950 812 - -
Other  11 4,549 4,301 - - 1,064 -
Total non-current assets  380,434 302,938 70,798 66,898 257,550 94,455
Total assets  638,605 546,496 325,445 338,185 278,678 95,731

Current liabilities 
Payables  14 71,439 99,623 18,688 10,315 839 64,963
Interest-bearing liabilities 15 44 10,439 15,010 7 - 10,256
Current tax liabilities 4 (b) 4,899 7,670 4,890 - - -
Provisions 16 29,413 2,994 18,363 889 9,171 -
Total current liabilities  105,795 120,726 56,951 11,211 10,010 75,219

Non-current liabilities 
Payables  14 17,354 18,906 - 32,636 - -
Interest-bearing liabilities 15 126,200 136,629 143,694 104,218 79,320 20,512
Deferred tax liabilities 4 (c) 20,630 21,058 20,630 143 - -
Provisions 16 384 311 38 23 - -
Total non-current liabilities  164,568 176,904 164,362 137,020 79,320 20,512
Total liabilities  270,363 297,630 221,313 148,231 89,330 95,731
Net assets  368,242 248,866 104,132 189,954 189,348 -

Equity 
Contributed equity 17 304,000 152,238 114,652 152,238 189,348 -
Reserves  18 - - - - - -
Retained profi ts 19 57,166 90,212 (10,520) 37,716 - -
Total Combined Group interest  361,166 242,450 104,132 189,954 189,348 -

Outside equity interest 
Contributed equity 21 8,434 8,609 - - - -
Accumulated losses 21 (1,358) (2,193) - - - -
Total outside equity interest  7,076 6,416 - - - -
Total equity 22 368,242 248,866 104,132 189,954 189,348 -

The statements of fi nancial position are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages 33 to 72

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2005
 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Cash fl ows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers   333,631 246,157 1,404 1,833 12,087 2,427
Payments to suppliers and employees   (273,669) (244,016) (37,398) (74,114) (4,218) (706)
Interest received  1,921 1,071 3,387 6,081 8,064 37
Borrowing costs including interest and other costs of fi nance paid  (8,582) (10,489) (13,130) (8,295) (5,353) (1,122)
Income tax paid  (14,671) (12,232) (14,631) (74) - -
Dividends received  2 188 81,431 21,108 - -
GST recovered/(paid)  (4,510) 1,225 4,932 2,046 (522) (86)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 31 (c) 34,122 (18,096) 25,995 (51,415) 10,058 550

Cash fl ows from investing activities 
Payments for property, plant & equipment  (9,965) (8,765) (561) (563) (214) (277)
Proceeds from sale of property plant & equipment  3,582 838 - - - -
Payments for intangibles  (362) (3,303) - - - -
Payments for interest in syndicates  (1,354) - - - - -
Payments for investment properties  (89,182) (51,171) - - (89,182) (51,171)
Payments for other investments  (144) - (144) - - -
Payment for purchase of subsidiaries net of cash acquired 31 (d) - (32,488) - (35,999) - -
Proceeds from return on capital  - 50 - 50 - -
Payments for shares in associates  - (4,435) - (3,627) - -

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (97,425) (99,274) (705) (40,139) (89,396) (51,448)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities 
Dividends and distributions paid  (37,266) (16,726) (58,891) (16,726) (2,337) -
Proceeds from issue of securities  132,949 47,854 64,741 47,854 192,006 -
Costs associated with issue of securities  (5,147) (1,479) (2,490) (1,479) (2,657) -
Payment for return of capital  - - (99,837) - - -
Advances to Parent Entity  - - 152,266 - (152,266) 21,040
Advances to subsidiaries  - - - (11,702) - -
Proceeds of borrowings  181,430 131,578 120,800 104,211 48,551 30,768
Repayment of borrowings  (202,277) (27,347) (197,000) (14,706) - -

Net cash provided by/(used in) fi nancing activities  69,689 133,880 (20,411) 107,452 83,297 51,808

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  6,386 16,510 4,879 15,898 3,959 910
Cash at beginning of the year 31 (a) 22,738 6,228 16,433 535 910 -

Cash at end of the year 31 (a) 29,124 22,738 21,312 16,433 4,869 910

The statements of cash fl ows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages 33 to 72

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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1.  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  The significant accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report are:
  (a)  FKP Property Group – Stapling of Securities

FKP Property Group (‘Combined Group’) is a stapled entity which comprises FKP Property Trust (‘Property Trust’) 
and FKP Limited (‘Parent Entity’) and its controlled entities. The Combined Group was established for the purpose 
of facilitating a joint quotation of the Property Trust and the Parent Entity on the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”). 
The stapled securities cannot be traded or dealt with separately. The constitutions of the Property Trust and the 
Parent Entity ensure that, for as long as the two entities remain jointly quoted, the number of units in the Property 
Trust and the number of shares in Parent Entity shall be equal and that unitholders and shareholders will be 
identical, except for the 10 units in the Property Trust owned by the Parent Entity.
The stapling arrangement came into effect from 12 November 2004. It is the current intention of the Property Trust 
and the Parent Entity to remain as a stapled entity, but this could be changed, subject to the Corporations Act and 
ASX listing rules, by a special resolution of the Property Trust unitholders and Parent Entity shareholders.
As the Combined Group commenced trading as a combined entity on 12 November 2004, the period ended 30 
June 2005 represents the first year for which financial statements have been prepared as stapled entity accounts 
and are shown under the heading “Combined Group”. Accordingly, the comparative figures for this report consist 
solely of the results and position of FKP Limited and its controlled entities. These figures are described under the 
heading “Combined Group” for the 2004 year. As the Property Trust was wholly owned by FKP Limited before 
stapling and commenced investment activities on 2 February 2004, its results and financial position are included in 
the comparative results for the Combined Group.

  (b) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of FKP Property Group consist of the aggregated financial statements of the combined 
entity comprising FKP Limited and its controlled entities and FKP Property Trust. None of the entities whose 
securities are stapled is a parent of the other entity and the entities do not have a common parent. The combined 
financial report has been drawn up in accordance with ASIC Class Order 05/642 relating to combining accounts 
under stapling, and for the purpose of fulfilling the requirements of the Australian Stock Exchange.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group 
Consensus Views and the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial report has been prepared on the historical cost basis and except where stated, does not take into 
account changing money values or fair values of non-current assets.
Fair value means the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arms length transaction.
These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each entity within the Combined Group and there have 
been no changes in accounting policy during the current financial year.

  (c) Principle of consolidation
The consolidated financial report combines the financial report of FKP Limited and its controlled entities (see note 
30) and the Property Trust. The effects of all transactions between entities in the Combined Group have been 
eliminated.
Outside equity interest comprises the aggregate of the equity of controlled entities, other than that held directly or 
indirectly by the Parent Entity, after making adjustments for unrealised profits and losses of controlled entities and 
other adjustments necessary to comply with Accounting Standards.
Investment in Syndicates 
Forest Place Retirement Village – Clayfield Syndicate and Forest Place Retirement Village – Cleveland Syndicate, 
of which a subsidiary is the responsible entity and a syndicate member and in which the Parent Entity has a direct 
ownership interest of 10% and 16% and an indirect ownership of 30% and 59% respectively are not accounted for 
as controlled entities because the syndicates are partnerships, over which the Parent Entity has impaired control 

because of the operation of the Syndicate Deed whereby investors have tenant in common interests requiring 
agreement of all investors to the implementation of fundamental changes in operation, control and structure under 
which the Parent Entity and its controlled entities are excluded from voting. Investments in the syndicates are 
accounted for using the equity method.

  (d) Recoverable amounts
The carrying amounts of non-current assets do not exceed the net amounts that are expected to be recovered 
through the cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use and subsequent disposal of the assets. The 
expected net cash flows included in determining the recoverable amounts have been discounted to their present 
values.
Where a group of assets work together to generate net cash flows the recoverable amount test is applied to that 
group of assets.

  (e) Revenue recognition
    Sale of Goods

(i)  Land subdivision:
Revenues from land subdivisions are recognised upon settlement of the contract of sale. 

(ii) Pre-Completion Contracts for the Sale of Residential Development Properties
Revenues for pre-completion contracts on the sale of residential development property are recognised 
by application of the percentage of completion method for that part of the development project for which 
pre-completion unconditional sales contracts have been exchanged and where the project’s outcome can be 
reliably estimated.
 Revenue is recognised only to the extent that the project has passed beyond construction of the podium level 
for such residential developments.
No emerging profit is recognised where the outcome cannot be reliably measured. 

(iii) Commercial development projects:
Revenues from commercial development projects, being the development of commercial property, are 
recognised upon 100% completion of the project and on the exchange of unconditional sales contracts.

(iv) Retirement village sales:
Revenues from the sale of retirement village units and serviced apartments are recognised upon settlement of 
the contract of sale or the commencement of a sales-type finance lease.

(v) Construction contracts:
Construction revenue received under fixed price contracts is recognised in accordance with the percentage of 
completion method. Stage of completion is measured by reference to actual costs incurred as a percentage of 
estimated total costs for each contract. Where it is probable that a loss will arise from a construction contract, 
the excess of total costs over revenue is recognised as an expense immediately. 

  (f)  Rendering of services
When the outcome of a contract to provide services can be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised by reference 
to the percentage of the services performed, specifically:
(i)  Deferred management fees (“DMF”):

DMF revenue incorporating exit revenues, which is earned whilst the resident occupies the unit or apartment, 
is payable only on the resale of the unit or apartment. The expected resale date is determined from the 
average resident occupancy of the units and apartments. 
Consequently the amount of revenue taken to account in any year is the net present value of the revenue 
earned, pursuant to the individual resident’s contract.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

(ii) Gross rental income:
Rental income, including outgoings recovered is brought to account on an accruals basis and if not received at 
balance date, is reflected as a sundry receivable. Minimum lease payments are brought to account on a basis 
representative of the pattern of service rendered. Rent received in advance is recorded as a payable.

(iii) Interest revenue:
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

  (g) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets (other than receivables) are recognised net of the amount of goods and services 
tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included, where applicable.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows.

  (h) Income tax
The Combined Group adopts the income statement liability method of tax effect accounting. Income tax expense 
is calculated on operating profit adjusted for permanent differences between taxable and accounting income. The 
tax effect of timing differences, which arise from items being brought to account in different periods for income tax 
and accounting purposes, is carried forward in the statement of financial position as a future income tax benefit or 
a provision for deferred income tax. 
Future income tax benefits are not brought to account unless realisation of the asset is assured beyond reasonable 
doubt. Future income tax benefits relating to tax losses are only brought to account when their realisation is 
virtually certain. The tax effects of capital losses are not recorded unless realisation is virtually certain.
FKP Limited and its wholly owned entities have elected to form a tax consolidated group with effect from 1 July 
2003. There were no material benefits or adverse financial consequences of the implementation of the legislation. 
Property Trust taxation
Under current tax legislation the Property Trust is not liable for income tax, provided the taxable income and taxable 
capital gains are fully distributed to unitholders each year. The Property Trust fully distributes its taxable income in 
accordance with its constitution. Tax allowances for building and plant and equipment are distributed to unitholders 
in the form of a tax deferred component of distributions.
Tax losses and realised capital losses are not distributed to unitholders but are carried forward in the Property Trust 
to be offset against taxable income and future capital gains of the Property Trust.

  (i)  Receivables
Trade accounts receivable, amounts due from related parties and other receivables (excluding pre-completion 
receivables) represent the principal amounts due at balance date plus accrued interest and less, where applicable, 
any provisions for doubtful accounts.
Trade accounts receivable from residential property developments arising on application of the pre-completion 
method represent the proportion of total expected revenue by reference to unconditional sales contracts 
exchanged to date and the percentage of construction completed.
Deferred management fee (“DMF”) receivables, payable on the date of transfer of entitlement by the resident to 
a third party, are recorded at the net present value of the estimated future receipts earned to date. Current DMF 
receivable is the estimated amount due within the next twelve months based on the management assumptions. 
The remainder of estimated DMF receivable is classified as non-current.

  (j)  Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs have been assigned to inventory 
quantities on hand at balance date using the first in first out basis. Cost comprises all costs of purchase and 
conversion including material, labour, sub-contract charges and direct contract expenses and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
Property Held for Resale
Freehold and leasehold property held for resale is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
(i)  Land subdivision

Cost includes the cost of acquisition and development. All holding costs such as borrowing costs, rates and 
taxes are expensed as incurred except where the subdivision is regarded as a qualifying asset.

(ii) Residential and commercial development projects
Costs include the costs of acquisition, development and holding costs (until the projects are brought to a 
marketable condition). Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where the development is regarded 
as a qualifying asset.

(iii) Retirement village units and serviced apartments
Costs include the costs of acquisition, and development. All holding costs such as borrowing costs, rates and 
taxes are expensed as incurred except where the village is regarded as a qualifying asset.

Construction contract work in progress:
Construction contract work in progress consists of direct labour and materials, depreciation of plant and equipment 
used on contracts, project overheads, less provision for foreseeable losses.

  (k) Investments
Investment in associates
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method in the Combined Group financial report and 
using the cost method in the financial report of the Parent Entity.
Associates comprise entities over which the Combined Group has significant influence and holds an ownership interest.
Under the equity method of accounting:
(i)   The carrying amount of the investment in the associate is increased or decreased to recognise the Combined 

Group’s share of the post acquisition profits or losses and other changes in net assets of the associate.
(ii)  The Combined Group’s share of the post acquisition profits or, losses of the associate, is included in the its 

statement of financial performance.
Marketable securities
Non-current investments in securities are stated at lower of cost or recoverable amount.

  (l)  Depreciation
All items of property, plant and equipment other than investment property, freehold and leasehold land are 
depreciated using the straight line method.
Depreciation rates used are as follows:

Depreciation Rate
Freehold buildings 2.5%
Nursing home 2.5%
Leasehold improvements 2.5% - 20%
Plant & equipment 6% - 40%
Plant & equipment (leased asset) 7.5% - 20%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

  (m) Investment Property
Investment property comprises investment interests in land and buildings (including integral plant and equipment 
held for the purpose of letting to produce rental income). Buildings, plant and equipment integral to the property are 
classified as investment property and accordingly not depreciated.
Investment properties have been recorded at cost, comprising the purchase consideration plus any incidental costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. The inclusion of acquisition costs may cause the carrying amount to initially 
be in excess of fair value. Directors review carrying amounts annually and external valuations are obtained every 
three years. It is expected that subsequent valuations will be in excess of initial cost. Where this is not the case, 
the carrying value will be written down to fair value.

  (n) Retirement village assets
The costs of communal facilities and associated land are capitalised as retirement village assets. Land costs 
associated with leased areas are expensed at the time of initial sale of the unit. Construction costs associated with 
leased areas are included as inventories and are expensed on sale of the initial lease of a unit. 
The retirement village asset is regularly assessed based on the expected cash flows receivable from deferred 
management fees payable when the lease over the unit changes hands over a period of time.
That part of the valuation amount not applicable to deferred management fee receivable determines the 
recoverable amount of the retirement village asset. Any amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds 
the value determined is expensed at the time of the determination.

  (o) Lease incentives
Initial indirect costs incurred by the lessor which relate to an operating lease and lease incentives are deferred by 
the lessor and amortised over the lease term in proportion to the rental recognised in each financial year.

  (p) Leased assets
Leases under which the Combined Group assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases 
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and a lease liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease 
payments are recorded at the inception of the lease. 
Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments of principal. The interest components of the lease payments are 
expensed. Contingent rentals are expensed as incurred. 
Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

  (q) Intangible assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of net assets acquired. It is 
amortised by the straight line method over 20 years.
Licences to operate nursing homes and hostels acquired are carried at cost and amortised over 20 years. Directors 
review the carrying value of licences for impairment and write off as an expense any reduction of recoverable 
amount below cost.
The exclusive right to construct and market retirement villages for Forest Place Retirement Village Syndicates 
acquired from third parties, is carried at cost and amortised against revenues arising from the completion of future 
contracts for construction and sale of retirement village assets. 
Directors review the carrying value of intangible assets regularly to determine whether the carrying amount 
exceeds recoverable amount and write off as an expense any reduction in value. 

  (r)  Payables
Payables represent the principal amounts outstanding at balance date plus, where applicable, any accrued interest.

  (s) Interest-bearing liabilities
Bank loans are recognised in the financial statements on the basis of the nominal amounts outstanding at balance 
date plus accrued interest.

  (t)  Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs include interest, amortisation of discounts and premiums relating to borrowings and amortisation 
of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings.
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred except borrowing costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes greater than 
twelve months to get ready for its intended use or sale (qualifying asset).
In this case the borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. Borrowing costs are capitalised as 
part of the cost of inventory under construction and on investment property - buildings under construction whilst 
the assets are qualifying assets.

  (u) Employee benefits
The following liabilities arising in respect of employee benefits are measured at their nominal amounts:
(i)   wages and salaries, variable pay plan bonus payments, annual leave and sick leave including directors’ 

retirement scheme regardless of whether they are expected to be settled within twelve months of balance 
date.

(ii)  other employee benefits, which are expected to be settled within twelve months of balance date.
All other employee benefits, including long service leave, are measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows in respect of services provided up to balance date. Liabilities are determined after taking into 
consideration estimated future increases in wages and salaries and past experience regarding staff departures. 
Related on-costs are included.
Employee share and option plans
The Combined Group grants securities to certain employees. The fair value of securities issued to employees is 
charged as an expense when the issue occurs. Other than the costs incurred in administering the schemes, which 
are expensed as incurred, the scheme does not result in any expense to the Combined Group.
Superannuation fund
The Combined Group contributes to an employee accumulation superannuation fund. Contributions are expensed as 
they are incurred.

  (v) Provisions
A provision is recognised when there is a legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the timing or 
amount of which is uncertain.
Warranty Maintenance
Provisions for warranty claims are made for claims received and claims expected to be received in relation 
to construction work performed prior to reporting date, based on historical claim rates, adjusted for specific 
information arising from internal quality assurance processes.
Significant uncertainties relate to estimates for construction provisions as these depend on circumstances 
particular to each site.

  (w) Syndicate put options
The Combined Group has entered into put and call options as part of the syndicate arrangements for the Cleveland 
and Clayfield villages. The estimated value of the put options exercised, but for which payment is not yet due, is 
recognised in the financial report as both an asset (rights to acquire syndicate shares) and a corresponding liability 
(put option liabilities). The classification between current and non-current is based on the commitment to make 
payment for these put options at the rate of one share per syndicate per calendar month.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Sale of goods revenue from operating activities  224,314 218,190 - - - -
Construction contract revenue  19,947 15,025 - - - -

    244,261 233,215 - - - -
Rendering of services:- 
Rent received  12,378 3,403 120 154 12,450 2,237
Deferred management fees   25,264 15,893 - - - -
Property development fee   2,422 1,860 - 476 - -
Other   15,355 9,317 - - - -

    55,419 30,473 120 630 12,450 2,237

Other Revenues: 
From outside operating activities 
Dividend received from entities in the Combined Group  - - 80,500 17,400 - -
Interest received: 
- entities in the Combined Group  - - 2,601 5,849 8,080 40
- other parties  1,921 1,071 786 232 - -
Management fee received: 
- entities in the Combined Group  - - 280 6,199 - -
- other parties  1,047 528 624 362 - -
Trust distribution received  378 364 931 3,520 - -
Disposal of assets other than goods: 
- property, plant and equipment  3,582 838 - - - -
- investments  - - - - - -
Other   540 45 - - - -

    7,468 2,846 85,722 33,562 8,080 40

Total revenue from ordinary activities  307,148 266,534 85,842 34,192 20,530 2,277

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
2. REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Individually signifi cant expenses/(revenues) included in profi t from ordinary activities before income tax expense 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  1,825 1,455 265 214 - -
Depreciation nursing home  23 - - - - -
Depreciation of building  27 13 - - - -

    1,875 1,468 265 214 - -
Amortisation of:   
Goodwill   139 111 - - - -
Leased plant and equipment   11 15 4 - - -
Other intangibles  244 50 - - - -
Leasehold improvements   453 226 247 187 - -

    847 402 251 187 - -

Total depreciation and amortisation  2,722 1,870 516 401 - -

Borrowing costs: 
Entities in the Combined Group  - - 7,821 - - -
Other parties 
- bank loans and overdraft  11,505 10,472 4,925 8,293 4,893 950
- fi nance charges on capitalised leases  18 17 1 2 - -
Less: capitalised borrowing costs  (2,604) (3,229) (2,604) - - -

    8,919 7,260 10,143 8,295 4,893 950

Net bad and doubtful debts expense/(revenue) including movements in provision for doubtful debts  372 (237) 900 - - -
Operating lease rental expense  1,835 1,458 500 900 - -
Recoverable amount write down/(reversal) in associate  (573) 573 (573) 573 - -

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non current assets:   
- property, plant & equipment  (830) 216 - 19 - -

Reversals of write-down in inventories  - (914) - - - -

The prior year reversal of inventory write down occurred as sales prices obtained were above initial expectations after allowing for these costs on the respective projects.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
3. PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

(a) Income tax expense
 Prima facie income tax expense on the profi t from ordinary activities calculated at 30% (2004: 30%)  21,396 15,893 17,131 4,960 3,618 165
 Add (deduct) tax effect of: 
 Rebatable dividends  - - - (4,960) - -
 Recoupment of prior years tax losses, not previously recognised  (290) - (290) - - -
 Amortisation non-deductible  42 40 42 - -
 Accounting capital profi ts/(losses) in excess of taxable capital profi ts/(losses)  - (75) - (75) - -
 Non deductible costs and assessable income  111 521 111 (13) - -
 Acquired deferred management fee received  500 - 500 - - -
 Deductible costs of equity raising  (279) - (279) - - -
 Income tax losses and timing differences not carried forward as a future tax benefi t  (1,573) - - - - -
 Trust income not assessable to the Combined Group  (3,451) (165) (418) - (3,618) (165)
 Over/(under) provision of tax in previous year  (648) 20 (661) - - -
 Transfer of tax balances to Parent Entity under tax consolidation  - - 13,657 - - -
 Other  (227) (68) (928) - - -

 Income tax expense attributable to profi t from ordinary activities  15,581 16,166 28,865 (88) - -

(b) Current tax liabilities
 Provision for current income tax  
 Movements during the year: 
 Balance at beginning of year  7,670 5,495 - - - -
 Reallocation of current tax provision on formation of tax consolidation group  - - 7,638 - - -
 Income tax (paid)/received - operating activities  (14,671) (12,232) (14,631) (74) - -
    (7,001) (6,737) (6,993) (74) - -
  
 Current year’s income tax liability on profi t from ordinary activities  14,883 14,427 14,883 - - -
 Impact of December 2004 decision to tax consolidate effective from 1 July 2003  (2,983) (20) (3,000) - - -
 Receivable Other  - - - 74 - -

    4,899 7,670 4,890 - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
4. TAXATION   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

(c) Deferred tax liabilities
 Provision for deferred income tax 
 Provision for deferred income tax comprises the estimated expense at the applicable rate of 30% (2004: 30%) on the following items: 
 Difference in depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment for accounting and income tax purposes  64 26 64 - - -
 Income not currently assessable for tax  1,459 143 1,459 143 - -
 Expenditure currently deductible for tax but deferred and amortised for accounting purposes   8,173 13,291 8,173 - - -
 Deferred management fee income currently not assessable for tax but derived for accounting purposes  10,934 7,598 10,934 - - -

     20,630 21,058 20,630 143 - -

(d) Deferred tax assets
 Future income tax benefi t 
  Future income tax benefi t comprises the estimated future benefi t at the applicable rate 

of 30% (2004: 30%) on the following items: 
 
 Provisions, accrued employee entitlements and accrued expenditure not currently deductible  3,916 6,067 3,916 812 - -
 Tax losses carried forward  34 2,003 34 - - -

    3,950 8,070 3,950 812 - -
 

 Future income tax benefi t not taken to account 

   The potential future income tax benefit in a controlled entity, which is a company, arising from tax losses 
and timing differences has not been recognised as an asset because recovery of tax losses is not virtually 
certain and recovery of timing differences is not assured beyond any reasonable doubt: 

 

 Tax losses carried forward  7,544 8,125 7,544 - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
4. TAXATION CONTINUED   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

The following refl ects the income and security data used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per security (EPS): 

Net profi t used in calculating basic earnings per security  54,936 36,676

Net profi t used in calculating diluted earnings per security  54,936 36,676

Weighted average number of ordinary securities outstanding during the year used in calculation of basic earnings per security  159,117,821 119,260,028

Dilutive potential ordinary securities  - 1,137,239

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary securities used in calculating diluted earnings per security  159,117,821 120,397,267
 
The weighted average number of options converted or lapsed during the year included in the calculation of diluted EPS  166,777 209,529
 
There are no dilutive potential ordinary securities. 

6. CASH ASSETS

Cash at bank  28,761 9,099 21,312 5,183 4,869 910
Short term deposits  363 13,639 - 11,250 - -

    29,124 22,738 21,312 16,433 4,869 910

Bank short term deposits are at call and pay interest at a weighted average interest rate of 5.25% (2004: 5%).

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
5. EARNINGS PER SECURITY  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Current 
Trade receivables  39,380 19,393 963 3,897 388 54
Provision for doubtful debts  (905) (607) (900) - (5) (11)
    38,475 18,786 63 3,897 383 43

Pre-sale completion contracts  45,454 85,040 - - - -
DMF receivable  23,389 17,260 - - - -
Due from associate  4,986 4,022 - - - -
Due from Parent Entity (interest-bearing)  - - - - 15,000 -
Due from wholly owned subsidiaries of the Parent Entity  - - 231,895 249,253 - -
Aggregate amounts receivable from director related parties  - 631 - - - -
Non trade accounts receivable due from other than related parties  337 273 - - 337 3

Total current receivables  112,641 126,012 231,958 253,150 15,720 46

Non-current 
Trade receivables  2,957 4,481 - - - -
Provision for doubtful debts  (119) (232) - - - -
    2,838 4,249 - - - -

DMF receivable  36,113 30,516 - - - -
Non trade receivable: 
- due from Parent Entity (interest-bearing)  - - - - 115,694 -
- due from wholly owned subsidiaries of the Parent Entity  - - - - - -
- due from other than related parties  600 31 - - 600 239
Provision for doubtful debts  - (31) - - - -

Total non-current receivables  39,551 34,765 - - 116,294 239

NET FAIR VALUES 
The carrying amounts of receivables approximate net fair values.

INTEREST 
Trade Receivables 
Represents amounts to be settled on due dates nominated in written contracts. If settlement does not occur on the date or within normal trading terms the contracts provide for interest to accrue until settlement at commercial rates.

The weighted average effective interest rate on interest bearing trade receivables at 30 June 2005 is 13.02% p.a. (2004: 10.57% p.a.). 

No other receivables, current or non-current, earn interest on outstanding balances.

SECURITY
Trade Receivables

Trade receivables totalling $15,125,211 (2004: $2,950,684) are secured by first mortgage over real property assets of the debtor, $2,730,005 is secured over second mortgage assets of the debtor, and an additional $1,564,209 is secured by bank guarantees. 
All other receivables are unsecured.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
7. RECEIVABLES  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

MATURITY
Trade Receivables 
Debtors with extended settlement terms are expected to settle as follows: 
Within one year  19,251 2,342 577 - - -
One year or later and no later than 5 years  2,688 2,220 - - - -
Later than 5 years  130 269 - - - -

    22,069 4,831 577 - - -

All other trade receivables are subject to normal terms of trade which provide for settlement within 30 days or are subject to a contractual settlement date within 12 months of year end. Other receivables that are non-current are contractual obligations 
due after 30 June 2006.

NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES
Non-cancellable operating leases not provided for in the fi nancial statements and receivable:
Within one year  11,867 7,851 - - 11,867 7,851
One year or later and no later than 5 years  29,475 21,002 - - 29,475 21,002
Later than 5 years  16,558 1,066 - - 16,558 1,066

Total minimum lease payments  57,900 29,919 - - 57,900 29,919

8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-current 
Marketable securities - shares in listed companies  15 15 - - - -
Investment in property trust - at cost (1)  3,450 3,450 3,450 3,450 - -
Investment in controlled entities - at cost  - - 58,443 58,299 - -

Total non-current other fi nancial assets  3,465 3,465 61,893 61,749 - -
 

Net fair values of marketable securities 
Non-current 
Shares in listed companies  21 19 - - - -

(1) The Combined Group owns a 10% interest in FKP Commercial Property Trust No. 1. The trust is a registered managed investment scheme which owns and manages a commercial offi ce building in Brisbane. 

Net fair values have been determined by reference to:
a) Current quoted market bid prices for marketable securities, adjusted for transaction costs necessary to realise the investments.
b) Net asset backing for other investments.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
7. RECEIVABLES CONTINUED   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Current 
Land & development properties held for resale: 
Cost of land acquisition  35,073 32,512 - - - -
Capitalised development costs  62,767 47,985 - - - -
Other capitalised costs  1,443 3,328 - - - -
Less: provision for diminution in value  - (327) - - - -
    99,283 83,498 - - - -
Construction work in progress:  
Construction costs & attributable profi t  14,771 20,816 - - - -
Less: progress billings (including retention allowances)  (11,387) (20,802) - - - -
    3,384 14 - - - -
Other inventory:
At cost   - 127 - - - -
At net realisable value  534 511 - 511 - -
    534 638 - 511 - -

Total current inventories  103,201 84,150 - 511 - -

Non-current 
Land & development properties held for resale: 
Cost of land acquisition  66,073 43,423 - - - -
Capitalised development costs  26,267 25,180 - - - -
Other capitalised costs  746 152 - - - -
Less: provision for diminution in value  (409) (409) - - - -

Total non-current inventories  92,677 68,346 - - - -

Aggregate consideration received and receivable as progress billings (including retentions) 
and advances received on amount of construction work in progress  11,835 21,844 - - - -

Inventory pledged as security 
Inventory of $91.259m is pledged as fi rst mortgage security for bank overdraft and bank loans. Bank loans are secured by fl oating charge over assets of the Parent Entity and its controlled entities. (Refer Note 15 for further details).

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
9. INVENTORIES   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

FKP4648_FinancialReport_Art.indd   43FKP4648_FinancialReport_Art.indd   43 9/9/05   2:57:19 PM9/9/05   2:57:19 PM



44 FKP 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Non-current
Investment properties – at cost 
Beginning of the year  94,216 - - - 94,216 -
Additions   45,976 94,216 - - 45,976 94,216
Disposal at written down value  - - - - - -
End of year  140,192 94,216 - - 140,192 94,216

11. OTHER ASSETS

Deposits   2,561 1,222 307 5 - -
Prepayments  9,720 7,974 1,070 1,188 539 320
Rights to acquire syndicate shares  924 1,462 - - -
Total current other assets  13,205 10,658 1,377 1,193 539 320

Non-current 
Deposits   2,125 2,125 - - - -
Lease incentives  1,064 - - - 1,064 -
Rights to acquire syndicate shares  1,360 2,176 - - - -
Total non-current other assets  4,549 4,301 - - 1,064 -

12. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Freehold land 
- at cost    7,314 7,212 - - - -

Leasehold land 
- at cost    - 215 - - - -

Nursing home 
- at cost   2,256 2,253 - - - -
- provision for depreciation  (23) - - - - -
    2,233 2,253 - - - -

Investment in retirement villages 
- at cost   52,549 47,629 - - - -

Freehold buildings 
- at cost   2,574 2,516 - - - -
- provision for depreciation  (41) (13) - - - -
    2,533 2,503 - - - -

Leasehold improvements 
- at cost    2,335 5,435 1,552 1,273 - -
- provision for amortisation  (918) (2,428) (700) (453) - -
    1,417 3,007 852 820 - -

Total land & buildings  66,046 62,819 852 820 - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Plant & equipment 
- at cost    18,886 15,646 1,184 931 - -
- provision for depreciation  (5,979) (4,436) (726) (468) - -
Under fi nance lease 
- at cost    139 185 22 - - -
- provision for amortisation  (110) (129) (4) - - -

Total plant & equipment  12,936 11,266 476 463 - -

Total non-current property, plant & equipment  78,982 74,085 1,328 1,283 - -

Movements during the year:-
Freehold land 
Beginning of year  7,212 76 - - - -
Transfers (to)/from inventory  102 7,136 - - - -
End of year  7,314 7,212 - - - -

Leasehold land 
Beginning of year  215 250 - - - -
Transfers to inventory  (215) (35) - - - -
End of year  - 215 - - - -

Nursing home 
Beginning of year  2,253 1,484 - - - -
Additions – capitalised costs  3 - - - - -
Acquisitions through entities acquired  - 769 - - - -
Depreciation  (23) - - - - -
End of year  2,233 2,253 - - - -

Investment in retirement villages 
Beginning of the year   47,629 7,356 - - - -
Additions – capitalised costs  4,920 769 - - - -
Acquisition through entities acquired  - 39,895 - - - -
Transfers to inventory  - (391) - - - -
End of year  52,549 47,629 - - - -

Freehold buildings 
Beginning of year  2,503 - - - - -
Additions – capitalised costs  57 2,516 - - - -
Depreciation  (27) (13) - - - -
End of year  2,533 2,503 - - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
12. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT CONTINUED  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Leasehold improvements 
Beginning of year  3,007 1,624 820 702 - -
Additions   1,006 1,626 279 323 - -
Disposals at written down value  (2,143) (17) - (18) - -
Amortisation expense  (453) (226) (247) (187) - -
End of year  1,417 3,007 852 820 - -

Plant & equipment 
Beginning of year  11,266 9,254 463 418 - -
Additions   3,900 4,179 304 267 - -
Acquisition through entities acquired  - 305 - - - -
Disposals at written down value  (394) (1,002) (22) (8) - -
Depreciation expense  (1,825) (1,455) (265) (214) - -
Amortisation expense fi nance leased assets  (11) (15) (4) - - -
End of year  12,936 11,266 476 463 - -

Valuations
An independent valuation of $4.870m for the nursing home was obtained on 31 January 2003 on the basis of open market values for existing use. As the nursing home is recorded at cost ($1.484m), the valuation has not been brought to account. 

For all other land and buildings fair value equates to the carrying value. Fair values have been determined by reference to directors’ valuations based upon independent valuations previously obtained. All valuations are performed on an open market basis, being 
the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing buyers and sellers in an arms length transaction. This determination has been made at 30 June 2005.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill - at cost  2,172 2,233 - - - -
Provision for amortisation  (1,710) (1,632) - - - -
    462 601 - - - -
 
Licence - at cost  4,298 4,298 - - - -
Provision for amortisation  (107) (76) - - - -
    4,191 4,222 - - - -
 
Rights – at cost  3,663 3,302 - - - -
Provision for amortisation  (222) (9) - - - -
    3,441 3,293 - - - -

Total intangible assets  8,094 8,116 - - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
12. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT CONTINUED   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Current 
Trade accounts payable  65,006 94,234 14,374 9,125 626 43,376
Deferred revenue  345 1,485 - - 146 -
Put option liability to acquire syndicate shares  1,346 2,558 - - - -
Non trade accounts payable  4,742 1,346 4,314 1,190 67 -
Due to Parent Entity  - - - - - 21,587

Total current payables  71,439 99,623 18,688 10,315 839 64,963

Non-current 
Trade accounts payable  9,364 9,881 - - - -
Deferred revenue  6,195 6,292 - - - -
Put option liability to acquire syndicate shares  1,795 2,733 - - - -
Due to subsidiaries in the Combined Group  - - - 32,636 - -

Total non-current payables  17,354 18,906 - 32,636 - -

Trade accounts payable are usually due within 30 days. No interest is charged on balances paid outside normal terms.

Net Fair Values
The carrying amounts of payables approximate net fair values.

Secured Amounts Payable 
None of the payables are secured.

15. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Current
Secured 
Bank loans  - 10,256 - - - 10,256
Loan from the Property Trust  - - 15,000 - - -
Finance lease liabilities (Note 23)  44 183 10 7 - -
Total secured current borrowings  44 10,439 15,010 7 - 10,256

Non-current 
Secured 
Bank loans  125,932 136,356 28,000 104,200 79,320 20,512
Loan from the Property Trust  - - 115,694 - - -
Other Loans  243 - - - - -
Finance lease liabilities (Note 23)  25 273 - 18 - -
Total secured non-current borrowings  126,200 136,629 143,694 104,218 79,320 20,512

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
14. PAYABLES   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Financing arrangements 
The Combined Group has access to the following lines of credit: 

Total facilities available: 
Bank overdraft  2,500 2,500 2,000 2,000 - -
Bank loans  298,569 253,232 177,064 144,927 90,480 66,019
Loan from the Property Trust  - - 500,000 - - -
Other loans  243 - - - - -
Performance guarantee facilities (Note 24)  46,415 50,907 41,890 36,300 - -
    347,727 306,639 720,954 183,227 90,480 66,019

Facilities utilised at balance date: 
Bank overdraft  - - - - - -
Bank loans  125,932 146,612 28,000 104,200 79,320 30,769
Loan from the Property Trust  - - 130,694 - - -
Other loans  243 - - - - -
Performance guarantee facilities (Note 24)  18,409 23,174 14,590 8,815 - -
    144,584 169,786 173,284 113,015 79,320 30,769

Facilities not utilised at balance date: 
Bank overdraft  2,500 2,500 2,000 2,000 - -
Bank loans  172,637 106,620 149,064 40,727 11,160 35,250
Loan from the Property Trust  - - 369,306 - - -
Other loans  - - - - - -
Performance guarantee facilities (Note 24)  28,006 27,733 27,300 27,485 - -
    203,143 136,853 547,670 70,212 11,160 35,250

Restrictions as to use or withdrawal 
There are no restrictions on use or withdrawal of any facilities, however the facilities are subject to the Combined Group complying with covenants concerning such matters as minimum interest times cover, maximum loan to value ration, current ratios and net 
tangible assets.

Bank overdraft 
Interest on bank overdrafts is charged at prevailing market rates. The weighted average interest rate for all overdrafts as at 30 June 2005 is 9.1% (2004: 8.9%).
Collateral pledged comprises fi rst mortgages over properties held in inventory, investments and property, plant and equipment. Overdrafts of controlled entities are guaranteed by the Parent Entity and other entities in the Combined Group. The bank overdrafts 
are payable on demand and are subject to annual review.

Bank loans (wholly secured)
The weighted average interest rate at 30 June 2005 is 6.3% (2004: 6.0%).
Collateral pledged comprises fi rst mortgages over certain properties and a fl oating charge over assets of the Parent Entity and its controlled entities. The Parent Entity guarantees bank loans of controlled entities within the Parent Entity and its controlled entities.

Other loans
FKP Funds Management Limited has entered into a loan agreement with the Parent Entity to make available a $500 million loan facility. Interest is payable quarterly at the rate of the prevailing 90 day bank bill swap reference rate plus a margin of 3.5% p.a. 

Performance guarantee facilities
These facilities are used to provide performance guarantees related to projects. Interest rates applicable to the facilities provided by lending institutions range from 0.9% to 1.5% per annum.
The Parent Entity has provided a guarantee and indemnity limited to $13,203,750 to the Property Trust to be released upon satisfaction of certain conditions precedent set out in the loan agreement. The remaining conditions to be satisfi ed include practical 
completion of Colmslie Plaza Shopping Centre and executed leases for a minimum of 50% of the specialty shops (by gross income).
The Parent Entity has also provided a guarantee and indemnity limited to $1,000,000 to the Property Trust to be released upon confi rmation of practical completion of the Colmslie property and drawdown of the facility to be provided by the bank.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
15. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES CONTINUED   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Current 
Employee benefi ts  2,418 2,754 779 889 - -
Warranty maintenance  240 240 - - - -
Dividends and distributions payable  26,755 - 17,584 - 9,171 -

Total current provisions  29,413 2,994 18,363 889 9,171 -

Non-current 
Employee benefi ts   384 311 38 23 - -

Total non-current provisions  384 311 38 23 - -

Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of provision, except for employee benefi ts, are set out below:

Warranty maintenance 
Carrying amount at beginning of year  240 530 - - - -
Provisions made during the year  - - - - - -
Reversal of provisions no longer required during the year  - (290) - - - -
Carrying amount at the end of year  240 240 - - - -

Capital replacement 
Carrying amount at beginning of year  - 253 - - - -
Provisions made during the year  - - - - - -
Payments made during the year  - (253) - - - -
Carrying amount at the end of year  - - - - - -

Onerous contracts 
Carrying amount at beginning of year  - 976 - - - -
Provisions made during the year  - - - - - -
Payments made during the year  - (976) - - - -
Carrying amount at the end of year  - - - - - -

Dividends and distributions payable 
Carrying amount at beginning of year  - - - - - -
Provisions made during the year  26,755 - 17,584 - 9,171 -
Payments made during the year  - - - - - -
Carrying amount at the end of year  26,755 - 17,584 - 9,171 -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
16. PROVISIONS  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Issued capital 
Ordinary securities fully paid  176,017,115 132,338,137 176,017,115 132,338,137 176,017,125 10

Movement in securities on issue 
Beginning of the fi nancial year  132,338,137 114,562,884 132,338,137 114,562,884 10 10
Securities issued as a result of: 
- Employee security plan issue   - 73,352 - 73,352 - -
- Employees exercising security options   778,493 513,757 778,493 513,757 - -
- Book Build/capital raising  35,714,285 17,188,144 35,714,285 17,188,144 35,714,285 -
- Stapling implementation   - - - - 133,116,630 -
- Costs of Stapling  - - - - - -
- Security Purchase Plan  7,186,200 - 7,186,200 - 7,186,200 -
End of the fi nancial year  176,017,115 132,338,137 176,017,115 132,338,137 176,017,125 10

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Movement in issued capital
Beginning of the fi nancial year  152,238 105,485 152,238 105,485 - -
Capital raised as a result of:   
- Employee security plan issue  - 378 - 378 - -
- Employees exercising security options  824 587 824 587 - -
- Book Build/capital raising  110,000 47,267 53,214 47,267 56,786 -
- Stapling implementation  23,961 - (99,837) - 123,798 -
- Costs of Stapling/capital raising  (5,147) (1,479) (2,490) (1,479) (2,657) -
- Security Purchase Plan  22,124 - 10,703 - 11,421 -

End of the fi nancial year  304,000 152,238 114,652 152,238 189,348 -

Terms and conditions
Holders of ordinary securities are entitled to receive dividends and distributions as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per security at securityholders’ meetings.

In the event of winding up of the Parent Entity, ordinary securityholders rank equally with all other securityholders and unsecured creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

Refer to Note 27 for further details about the Employee Option Plan and Employee Security Plan and options granted and securities issued under these plans and participation arrangements.

 COMBINED GROUP
NO. OF STAPLED SECURITIES

PARENT ENTITY
NO. OF SHARES

PROPERTY TRUST
NO. OF UNITS

17. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY  2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Asset revaluation reserve  - - - - - -
Capital profi ts reserve  - - - - - -
    - - - - - -

Movements during the year:

Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at beginning of the year  - 542 - - - -
Transfer to retained earnings  - (542) - - - -
Balance at end of year  - - - - - -

Capital profi ts reserve   
Balance at beginning of the year  - 5,493 - - - -
Transfer to retained earnings  - (5,493) - - - -
Balance at end of year  - - - - - -

19. RETAINED PROFITS

Retained profi ts at beginning of year  90,212 64,227 37,716 37,822 - -
Net profi t attributable to members of the Combined Group  54,936 36,676 28,239 16,620 12,061 549
Dividends and distributions recognised during the year  (87,982) (16,726) (76,475) (16,726) (12,061) (549)
Transfers from (to) reserves  - 6,035 - - - -

Retained profi ts at the end of the year  57,166 90,212 (10,520) 37,716 - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
18. RESERVES   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Details of dividends and distributions proposed or paid by the Combined Group are:

TYPE
CENTS

PER SECURITY
TOTAL AMOUNT

$’000
DATE OF

PAYMENT
FRANKED
TAX RATE

PERCENTAGE
FRANKED

2005 
Final 2004 ordinary   8.00 10,650 15 Oct 2004 30% 100%
Special    25.00 33,279 12 Nov 2004 30% 100%
Interim 2005 ordinary   9.83 17,298 16 Apr 2005 30% 86.5%
Final 2005 ordinary - proposed   15.20 26,755 14 Oct 2005 30% 65.77%
      87,982 

2004 
Final 2003 ordinary   6.50 7,462 17 Oct 2004 30% 100%
Interim 2004 ordinary   7.00 9,264 16 Apr 2004 30% 100%
      16,726 

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividend franking account 
Balance of the 30% franking credits at the end of the year    (3,443) 17,471 

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for:
(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax;
(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end;
(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised at the year-end;
(d) franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.
The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being suffi cient available profi ts to declare dividends.

21. OUTSIDE EQUITY INTERESTS

Outside equity interests in controlled entities comprise:

Interests in retained profi ts at the beginning of the year after adjusting 
for outside equity interests in entities acquired during the year  (2,162) (2,328)

Interests in profi t from ordinary activities after income tax  804 135

Interest in retained profi ts at the end of the fi nancial year   (1,358) (2,193)

Interest in share capital  8,434 8,609

Total outside equity interests  7,076 6,416

 
 
20. DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED
 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
22. TOTAL EQUITY RECONCILIATION   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Total equity at beginning of the year  248,866 175,747 189,954 143,307 - -
Total changes in Combined Group interest in equity recognised in statement of fi nancial performance  49,789 35,197 25,749 15,141 9,404 549
Transactions with owners as owners:
- contributions of equity  156,909 48,232 (35,096) 48,232 192,005 -
- dividends/distributions   (87,982) (16,726) (76,475) (16,726) (12,061) (549)
Total changes in outside equity interest  660 6,416 - - - -

Total equity at the end of the year  368,242 248,866 104,132 189,954 189,348 -

23. COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure commitments:
Contracted but not provided for and payable:  - - - - - -

Non-cancellable operating lease expense commitments:
Future operating lease commitments not provided for in the fi nancial statements and payable:
Within one year  1,755 1,374 961 978 - -
One year or later and no later than 5 years  1,694 2,577 1,096 1,968 - -
Later than 5 years  - 1,894 - - - -
    3,449 5,845 2,057 2,946 - -

The above amounts payable arise from lease agreements for offi ce and retail premises 
accommodation containing options to renew, which have not yet been exercised.

Finance Lease and Hire Purchase payment commitments:
Finance Lease and Hire Purchase commitments are payable:
Within one year  47 209 10 20 - -
One year or later and no later than 5 years  25 212 - 7 - -
Later than 5 years  - 89 - - - -
Total minimum lease and hire purchase payments  72 510 10 27 - -

Less: future fi nance lease and hire purchase charges payable:
Within one year  (3) (26) - (1) - -
One year or later and no later than 5 years  - (26) - (1) - -
Later than 5 years  - (2) - - - -
    69 456 10 25 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

The Combined Group leases motor vehicles and equipment under finance leases and hire 
purchase agreements expiring from one to three years. At the end of the lease or agreement 
the Combined Group has the option to purchase the asset at the nominated residual value.
Lease liabilities provided for in these fi nancial statements: 
Current liability (Note 15)  44 183 10 7 - -
Non-current liability (Note 15)  25 273 - 18 - -

Total lease liabilities  69 456 10 25 - -

Finance leases 
Interest on fi nance leases is charged at prevailing market rates. The weighted average interest rate for all fi nance leases as at 30 June 2005 is 7.78% (2004: 7.87%).

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Particulars and estimated maximum amounts of contingent liabilities arising in respect of:

Related corporations 

The Parent Entity has guaranteed bank loans to entities within the Combined Group.  - - 79,320 10,256 - -

Litigation

In October 2003, Queensland Supreme Court proceedings were commenced seeking damages for alleged misrepresentation during negotiations of a lease with a tenant of Mincom Central. The damages claimed amount to approximately $3.3m. However, the 
directors are of the opinion, based on legal advice, that the tenant’s claims are very exaggerated and legally misconceived, and that the court is unlikely, based on the information presently available, to award any damages to the tenant for the claim.

Performance guarantees (Note 15)
The Combined Group has various performance and other guarantees provided to third parties.

Other guarantees and undertakings 

The Parent Entity has provided a rental guarantee to the Property Trust for a period of 2 years, in the amount of $4,426,250 per annum, commencing on 14 January 2005 in the event that at the time, the current monies outstanding under the Bank of New 
Zealand Australia finance facility is not equal or less than 50% of the sworn valuation of the properties secured by the facility.

As a condition of the Australian Financial Services Licence (AFSL) issued to FKP Funds Management Limited, the Parent Entity has issued an Eligible Undertaking for the amount of $1,500,000. The undertaking will remain in force as long as FKP Funds 
Management Limited continues to hold the AFSL in respect of it acting as responsible entity of the FKP Property Trust and the FKP Commercial Property Trust No.1.

25. BORROWING COSTS CAPITALISED

Borrowing costs have been capitalised during the year as part of the carrying amounts of the following assets:
Current inventories 

Land and development properties held for resale  2,604 3,229 - - - -

Interest was capitalised at a weighted average rate of 6.24% (2004: 5.98%)

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
23. COMMITMENTS CONTINUED  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Investments in property syndicates:-

Details of investment in syndicate are as follows:
Ownership interest
Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate  75% 63% 16% 16% - -
Forest Place Clayfi eld Syndicate  40% 35% 10% 10% - -

  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Investment carrying amounts 
Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate  3,516 2,882 1,635 1,411 - -
Forest Place Clayfi eld Syndicate  5,458 4,692 1,992 1,643 - -

    8,974 7,574 3,627 3,054 - -

The principal activities include the continuing development and operation of two retirement villages in Brisbane. The balance date for each syndicate is 30 June.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Share of results of syndicate 
Net profi t/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax expense  (527) (146)
Profi t accounted for using the equity method  (527) (146)

Share of post-acquisition retained profi ts and reserves attributable to syndicates 
Retained Profi ts 
Retained profi ts at the beginning of the fi nancial year   (146) -
Net profi ts after tax  (527) (146)
Retained profi ts at the end of the fi nancial year   (673) (146)

Movements in carrying amounts of investment 

Carrying amount of investment in syndicates at the beginning of the fi nancial year  7,574 - 3,054 - - -
Purchase of investment in syndicates  1,354 3,858 - 3,627 - -
Acquisition through entities acquired  - 4,435 - - - -
Share of syndicates net profi t   (527) (146) - - - -
Reversal of/(write down) to recoverable amount  573 (573) 573 (573) - -
Carrying amount of investments in syndicates at the end of the fi nancial year  8,974 7,574 3,627 3,054 - -

Commitments
There are no expenditure commitments contracted for at balance date payable but not provided for and payable by either syndicate.

Contingent Liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
26. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD  2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Summary fi nancial position of syndicates
Current assets  8,788 3,219
Non-current assets  9,553 8,070

Total assets  18,341 11,289
 
Current liabilities  10,673 4,173
Non-current liabilities  1,070 806

Total liabilities  11,743 4,979

Net assets - as reported by syndicates  6,598 6,310

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Aggregate liability for employee benefi ts, including on-costs:

Current: 
Employee benefi ts 16 2,418 2,754 779 889 - -
Accounts payable  3,863 3,090 3,550 2,782 - -
    6,281 5,844 4,329 3,671 - -

Non-current:  
Employee benefi ts 16 384 311 38 23 - -
Accounts payable  92 83 - - - -
    476 394 38 23 - -

Number of employees 

Number of employees at year end  624 594 433 398 - -

Employee option plan (‘EOP’)

The EOP was established with the approval of a special resolution of FKP Limited made on 28 October 1999 and amended with the special resolution of FKP Limited made on 29 October 2004 in relation to the stapling of each of the shares of FKP Limited to 
each of the units in FKP Property Trust effective from 12 November 2004. The EOP provides all employees (upon completion of two year’s service) the opportunity to be rewarded for their service to the Combined Group by offering them options to buy stapled 
securities. The options may be exercised at anytime during the three year period which commences two years after the issue of the option. The exercise price is notified when the offer is made. The options issued for nil consideration, cannot be transferred 
and will not be quoted on the ASX.

The exercise price and any other terms and conditions of the option are determined at the discretion of the Board. Whilst there are no stipulated performance hurdles which must be achieved by an employee to be offered options pursuant to the plan, the 
Board has absolute discretion in determining the conditions for participation in the plan. The plan has been established as an important incentive to employees to achieve the Combined Group’s strategic objectives and to more closely align their own interests 
with those of other securityholders by owning securities in the Combined Group. 

Directors may participate in the EOP, however, no director has been offered options pursuant to the EOP.

No options were issued to any employee (including specified executives) pursuant to the EOP during the financial year ended 30 June 2005 (2004: Nil).

The Parent Entity issued 778,493 (2004: 513,757) ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options under this plan during the financial year, before the stapling implementation.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
26. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD CONTINUED NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

FKP4648_FinancialReport_Art.indd   56FKP4648_FinancialReport_Art.indd   56 9/9/05   2:57:26 PM9/9/05   2:57:26 PM



FKP 2005 ANNUAL REPORT 57

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
GRANT DATE EXPIRY DATE EXERCISE PRICE $ $ $ $ $ $

Details of security options exercised during the year:
25 January 1999 24 January 2004 $1.157 - 319,379 - 369,522 - 838,221
1 February 2000 31 January 2005 $ 1.120 170,920 194,378 191,430 217,704 558,546 549,057
27 March 2001 26 March 2006 $ 1.810 168,258 - 136,289 - 541,791 -
4 June 2002 3 June 2007 $ 1.130 439,315 - 496,426 - 1,341,458 -
    778,493 513,757 824,145 587,226 2,441,795 1,387,278

There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options over unissued ordinary securities. Voting rights will be attached to the unissued ordinary securities when the options have been exercised.

Unissued ordinary securities of the Combined Group under option are :

 NUMBER OF OPTIONS 
EXPIRY DATE EXERCISE PRICE 2005 2004

31 January 2005  $ 1.120 - 170,920 
26 March 2006  $ 0.810 - 168,258 
3 June 2007  $ 1.130 - 439,315 
    - 778,493 

No amount is due and receivable from holders of options as at 30 June 2005. The market value of securities under these options at 30 June 2005 was $2.83 (2004: $2.82). During the year ended 30 June 2005, no options expired (2004: 280,989).

Variable Pay Plan
In 2003 the Parent Entity introduced a staff incentive scheme - the Variable Pay Plan. The Variable Pay Plan has two components - Basic bonus scheme and Premium bonus scheme.
A basic bonus is paid to all qualifying staff when the Combined Group exceeds Board approved fi nancial benchmarks. A premium bonus is paid to those staff who have directly contributed to profi t results which signifi cantly exceed the Board approved fi nancial 
benchmarks. At 30 June 2005, Variable Pay Plan incentives totalling $2,565,000 (2004: $2,164,000) were approved for payment to qualifying staff in September 2005. 

Employee security plan (‘ESP’)
The ESP was established with the approval of a special resolution of Forrester Kurts Properties Ltd made on 28 October 1999 and amended by a resolution of the Board made on 8 February 2001 and amended by special resolution of FKP Limited on 29 October 
2004 in relation to the stapling of each of the shares of FKP Limited to each of the units in FKP Property Trust effective from 12 November 2004. The ESP provides all employees (upon completion of one year’s service) the opportunity to be rewarded for their 
service to the Combined Group by offering them $1,000 worth of FKP stapled securities, at no cost to the employee.
All employees of the Combined Group are entitled to participate in the ESP. No issues of securities were made to any employee pursuant to the ESP during the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2005 (2004: 73,352). The market value at the date of issue of these 
securities was $nil (2004:$212,000) and the total amount received from employees was $Nil (2004: $nil).
Whilst there are no stipulated performance hurdles which must be achieved by an employee to be offered securities, the Board has absolute discretion in determining the conditions for participation in the plan. The plan has been established as an important 
incentive to all employees to achieve the Combined Group’s strategic objectives and to more closely align their own interests with those of other security holders by owning securities in the Combined Group. 

Employees are restricted from dealing with stapled securities issued to them pursuant to the ESP for a period which expires on the earlier of their termination of employment with the Combined Group or three years from the date of issue. 
Directors are not eligible to participate in the ESP.

Superannuation commitments
The Combined Group contributed to the FKP Group Superannuation Fund and Forrester Kurts SGC Fund both of which are Accumulation Funds providing benefi ts for employees and their dependants, on retirement, disability or death. Contributions made by the 
employee are at his/her discretion subject to the statutory limitations.
The Combined Group’s contributions are not legally enforceable, except for amounts owing under the Superannuation Guarantee Charge. Funds are available for the purposes of the fund to satisfy all benefi ts that would have been vested under the fund in the 
event of termination of the fund or the voluntary or compulsory termination of employment of each employee member.

Other benefi ts
All employees of the Combined Group, including Directors and Executives are entitled to a rebate of 2.5% on the purchase of the Combined Group properties developed for sale pursuant to the Combined Group’s Staff Purchase Policy. This rebate approximately 
represents the savings in agent’s commissions and is not included in remuneration as there is no net cost to the Combined Group.

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED NUMBER OF OPTIONS EXERCISED PROCEEDS FROM SECURITIES ISSUED
FAIR VALUE AS AT ISSUE DATE OF 

SECURITIES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Equity instruments

All options refer to options over ordinary securities of the Combined Group, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis under the Combined Group’s Employee Option Plan (EOP). Specified directors are not entitled to participate in the EOP.

Options and rights over equity instruments granted as remuneration

During the reporting period, no options over ordinary securities were granted to any specified director, specified executive or employee. No options vested during the current year under the EOP:

No options have been granted since the end of the financial year. All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s employment. The options are exercisable at any time during the exercise period of 3 years commencing two 
years from grant date.

For further details on the Managing Director’s Share Plan refer to the Remuneration report on page 22.

Exercise of options granted as remuneration
During the reporting period, the following ordinary securities were issued on the exercise of options previously granted as remuneration:

SPECIFIED EXECUTIVE NUMBER OF SECURITIES AMOUNT PAID $/SECURITY

C MacDonald 50,000 $1.12
   50,000 $1.13
T Toner  50,000 $0.81
   50,000 $1.13
G Brown  50,000 $1.13

There are no amounts unpaid on the securities issued as a result of the exercise of the options.

Option holdings
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary securities in the Combined Group held, directly, indirectly or benefi cially, by each specifi ed director and specifi ed executive, including their personally-related entities, is as follows:

SPECIFIED EXECUTIVE EXERCISE PRICE HELD AT 1 JULY 2004 EXERCISED HELD AT 30 JUNE 2005
VESTED AND EXERCISABLE 

AT 30 JUNE 2005

C MacDonald  $1.12 50,000 50,000 - -
    $1.13 50,000 50,000 - -
T Toner   $0.81 50,000 50,000 - -
    $1.13 50,000 50,000 - -
G Brown   $1.13 50,000 50,000 - -

 
 
28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Equity holdings and transactions
The movement during the reporting period in the number of securities of the Combined Group held, directly, indirectly or benefi cially, by each specifi ed director and specifi ed executive, including their personally-related entities is as follows:

HELD AT 1 JULY 2004 PURCHASE
RECEIVED ON 

EXERCISE OF OPTIONS SALES OTHER(1) HELD AT 30 JUNE 2005

Specifi ed directors 
J Jamieson 306,001 - - - (306,001) -
B Macdonald 234,989 3,248 - - - 238,237
P Brown  - - - - - -
R Forrester 14,398,886 1,624 - 6,196,752 - 8,203,758
P Parker  12,738,686 3,248 - - - 12,741,934
D Crombie 95,489 33,248 - - - 128,737
D Forrester 14,381,451 - - 6,195,128 - 8,186,323
L McKinnon - - - - - -

Specifi ed executives 
D Guihot  - 1,624 - - 20,000 21,624
T Russell  - 30,000 - - - 30,000
T Toner  11,958 - 100,000 - - 111,958
M Miller  - - - - - -
G Brown  3,205 - 50,000 - - 53,205
E Delfabbro - - - - - -
S Ponton  346 - - - (346) -
C MacDonald 107,562 - 100,000 - (207,562) -

(1) Relevant interest at commencement or cessation of employment. 

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Loans and other transactions with specifi ed directors and specifi ed executives

Loans
There were no loans made to any specifi ed director or specifi ed executive during the reporting period.

Other transactions with the Combined Group

A number of specified directors and specified executives, or their personally-related entities, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. Some of these entities 
transacted with the Combined Group in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of those transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to unrelated entities on 
an arm’s length basis.
The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to specifi ed directors, specifi ed executives and their personally-related entities, were total revenue of $1,460,382 and total expenses of $200,000. Details of the transactions are as follows:

SPECIFIED DIRECTORS   TRANSACTION NOTE $

R Forrester Sales revenue – construction (i) 1,457,956
P Parker  Sales revenue – construction (ii) 2,426
D Forrester Consultancy fees (iii) 200,000

(i)    FKP Constructions Pty Ltd supplied construction services to Aria Property Group Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr R Forrester is a director. The total construction claims raised during the year amounted to $1,457,956 and were on terms no more favourable 
than those available to other employees. Amounts were billed on normal market rates for such services and were due and payable under normal payment terms.

(ii)    FKP Constructions Pty Ltd supplied construction services to Parker Property Group Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr P Parker is a director. The total construction claims raised during the year amounted to $2,426 and were on terms no more favourable than 
those available to other employees. Amounts were billed on normal market rates for such services and were due and payable under normal payment terms.

(iii) The Combined Group engages Carlo Monte Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr D Forrester is a director, on a retained basis for construction and development consultancy services. The fee payable for the year ended 30 June 2005 was $200,000.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
29. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION   $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Statutory Audit
Auditors of the Combined Group 
 - Audit and review of fi nancial reports (PKF Chartered Accountants)  178,635 148,725 168,635 143,725 10,000 5,000
Other Auditors 
- Audit and review of fi nancial reports (KPMG Australia)  67,470 85,744 - - - -
    246,105 234,469 168,635 143,725 10,000 5,000

Services Other Than Statutory Audit 

PKF Chartered Accountants 
- Procedures reports  7,955 7,565 7,955 - - -
- Due diligence services  7,500 7,500 7,500 - - -

PKF Investment Services Pty Ltd 
- Due diligence services  82,000 - 82,000 - - -

Other Auditors  
- Taxation compliance services  - 6,500 - 6,500 - -
- Compliance audit  2,500 2,500 - - 2,500 2,500
    99,955 24,065 97,455 6,500 2,500 2,500

 
 
28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

All of the following entities are incorporated/formed in Australia.
The parent entity is FKP Limited, the shares of which are stapled to the units in the FKP Property Trust.

Controlled entities: FKP Real Estate (NSW) Pty Ltd 
ARH Leisure Services Pty Ltd FKP Residential Developments Pty Ltd 
Australian Retirement Homes (No 2) Pty Ltd FKP Retirement Village Trust No 1 
Australian Retirement Homes Limited F P Asset Holdings Pty Ltd2 
Australian Retirement Homes (Sales & Marketing) Pty Ltd F P Asset Holdings (No 2) Pty Ltd2 
Forest Place Clayfi eld Pty Ltd F P Investments Pty Ltd 
Aust-Wide Mini Storage Pty Ltd Forest Place Pty Ltd2 
ACN 102 758 163 Pty Ltd Forest Place Group Limited2 
Carmist Pty Ltd Forest Place Management Ltd2 
Cleveland Gardens Pty Ltd Forest Place Unit Trust2 
Cloudland Development Trust (ordinary units) Formica Pty Ltd 
Data Plan Unit Trust (ordinary units) Forrester Parking Holding Trust1 
Edward Street Properties Pty Ltd Great Sandy Straits Marina Pty Ltd 
Esplanade Unit Trust (ordinary units) GSSM Terminal Pty Ltd 
Extra Care Services Pty Ltd Home Finance Pty Ltd 
FKP Commercial Developments Pty Ltd Laceway Pty Ltd 
FKP Commercial Property Trust  Lindsay Gardens Management Pty Ltd 
FKP Constructions Pty Ltd Omega Group Pty Ltd 
FKP Developments Pty Ltd Peregian Springs Golf Holdings Limited 
FKP Funds Management Limited Starwisp Pty Ltd 
FKP Holdings Pty Ltd Sunshine Lifestyle Resorts Pty Ltd 
FKP Little Bay Pty Ltd Tasmanian Retirement Living Management Pty Ltd 
FKP Marketing Services Pty Ltd Taspave Pty Ltd 
FKP Real Estate Pty Ltd The Domain Retirement Country Club Pty Ltd 

Except where shown, the investments in controlled entities are held in ordinary shares and are wholly-owned.
1 No equity held in this entity but all the benefi cial rights are attributable to the Parent Entity.
2  Owned 85% by the Parent Entity.

 
 
30. CONTROLLED ENTITIES  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

(a) Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money 
market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at the end of the year as shown in the Statements of 
Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of fi nancial position as follows:
Cash on hand and at bank  29,124 22,738 21,312 16,433 4,869 910

(b) Financing facilities available
Financing facilities available are detailed in Note 15 ‘Interest-bearing liabilities’.

(c) Reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to operating profi t after income tax:
Operating profi t after income tax  55,740 36,811 41,896 16,620 12,061 549
Depreciation  1,875 1,468 265 214 - -
Amortisation - leased assets  464 402 251 187 - -
Amortisation - intangibles  383 - - - 403 38
Write down in value of investments  (46) 573 (573) 573 - -
Increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable  (2,771) 2,175 4,890 147 - -
Increase/(decrease) in provision for deferred income tax  4,120 3,323 20,487 89 - -
Increase/(decrease) in interest payable  (211) - 3,062 - - -
Decrease/(increase) in future income tax benefi t  (428) (1,621) (3,138) (157) - -
Decrease/(increase) in provision for doubtful debts  352 (542) 900 - (5) 11
Losses/(gains) on sale of plant & equipment  (830) 216 - 19 - -

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of purchase and disposal of controlled entities: 
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 
- trade receivables  8,465 (31,558) 2,933 (3,166) (470) (58)
- non-trade - other  (726) 801 (50,522) (67,278) (219) -
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  (43,680) (22,493) 212 (1,022) (1,045) (320)
Decrease/(increase) in equity accounted investments  - 146 - - - -
Decrease/(increase) in other assets  (1,221) (3,736) 115 (984) - -
(Increase)/decrease in other non current receivables  - 2,799 - - - -
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 
- payables  10,414 (2,567) 380 1,176 (98) 330
- unearned income  (1,237) (5,961) - - - -
Increase/(decrease) in other accruals  (1,347) 851 - - (569) -
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 
- employee entitlements  (263) 175 (95) 146 - -
- other   296 (1,519) - (14) - -
Shares issued to employees  - 378 - 378 - -
GST clearing  4,773 1,783 4,932 1,657 - -

Net cash provided/(used) in operating activities  34,122 (18,096) 25,995 (51,415) 10,058 550

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

(d) Acquisition of controlled entities
During the 2004 fi nancial year 100% of the ordinary shares in FKP Funds Management Limited and 84.79% of the ordinary 
shares in Forest Place Group Limited were acquired. Details of the acquisitions in aggregate are as follows:
Consideration  - 35,999 - 35,999 - -
Cash acquired  - (3,511) - - - -

Cash Outfl ow  - 32,488 - 35,999 - -

Fair value of net assets of entity acquired: 

Cash   - 3,511 - 3,511 - -
Receivables  - 19,738 - 19,738 - -
Inventories  - 1,625 - 1,625 - -
Other assets  - 1,879 - 1,879 - -
Equity accounted investments  - 3,858 - 3,858 - -
Property, plant & equipment  - 1,135 - 1,135 - -
Investment in retirement villages  - 39,895 - 39,895 - -
Accounts payable  - (14,694) - (14,694) - -
Interest-bearing liabilities  - (15,036) - (15,036) - -
Provisions  - (501) - (501) - -
Outside equity interest  - (5,411) - (5,411) - -

    - 35,999 - 35,999 - -

(e) Non-Cash Financing and Investment Activities

During this year the Parent Entity and Combined Group acquired property, plant and equipment under finance lease and hire purchase with an aggregated fair value of $22,000 for the Combined Group and nil for the Parent Entity.

During the year the Combined Group reinvested $23.961m on the stapling implementation.

During the 2004 year the Parent Entity and Combined Group took up the two acquisitions of 8 Spring Street, Sydney ($26.9m) and 52-58 Clarence Street Sydney ($20.9m,) as they were unconditional at 30 June 2004. The non cash component was the accrual 
of $43m at 30 June 2004.

The above transactions have not been reflected in the statement of cash flows.

(f) Restrictions on Use
Restrictions on amount of cash not available to the Combined Group for use are $1,511,014 (2004 $1,463,993)

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Interest Rates Risk and Credit Risk Exposures
The Combined Group manages its exposure to interest rate through a formal set of policies and procedures approved by the Board of directors.
The integral part of the entities risk management practices may involve the use of interest rate swaps. There have been no such transactions during the year.
The Combined Group does not engage in any signifi cant transactions which are speculative in nature.

(a) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
Exposures to interest rate risks on fi nancial assets and liabilities are summarised as follows:

FIXED INTEREST RATE MATURING
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NON INTEREST BEARING 1 YEAR OR LESS OVER 1 TO 5 YEARS MORE THAN 5 YEARS FLOATING INTEREST RATE TOTAL

2005 NOTE INTEREST RATE $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets 
 Cash Assets 6 5.3% 20 - - - 29,104 29,124
 Receivables 7 0.3% 147,886 2,406 - - 1,900 152,192
 Other Financial Assets 8 0.0% 3,465 - - - - 3,465
Total Financial Assets   151,371 2,406 - - 31,004 184,781

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables 14 0.0% 82,253 - - - - 82,253
  Interest-Bearing Liabilities 15 6.3% - 44 48,737 - 77,463 126,244
Total Financial Liabilities   82,253 44 48,737 - 77,463 208,497

Net Financial Assets (Liabilities)   69,118 2,362 (48,737) - (46,459) (23,716)

2004

Financial Assets 
 Cash Assets 6 5.1% 22 -  -  - 22,716 22,738
 Receivables 7 0.3% 160,316 -  -  - 461 160,777
 Other Financial Assets 8 0.0% 3,465 -  -  - - 3,465
Total Financial Assets   163,803 -  -  - 23,177 186,980

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables 14 0.0% 118,529 - - - -  118,529
 Interest-Bearing Liabilities 15 6.0% - 183 273  -  146,612 147,068
Total Financial Liabilities   118,529 183 273  -  146,612  265,597

Net Financial Assets (Liabilities)   45,274 (183) (273) -  (123,435) (78,617)

(b) Credit Risk Exposure
The maximum credit risk exposure of fi nancial assets is represented by the carrying amounts of assets recognised in the statement of fi nancial position net of any provisions for losses.

(c) Concentrations of Credit Risk
There are no concentrations of credit risk with any specifi c industry segments from which trade accounts receivable are due. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Business segments The Combined Group comprises the following main business segments, based on the its management reporting system:
   Land subdivision Acquisition of land for development and sale ranging from small infi ll projects to master planned residential communities
   Property development Development and construction of residential commercial, retail, retirement villages and industrial property
   Retirements Management of retirement villages
   Investment and funds management Investment and management of income producing properties and managed investment schemes
Geographical segments The Combined Group operates only in Australia.
Inter-segment pricing In 2004, land was transferred from the Land division to the Property Development division at cost.

LAND 
SUBDIVISION

PROPERTY 
DEVELOPMENT RETIREMENTS

 INVESTMENT AND 
FUNDS MANAGEMENT OTHER ELIMINATIONS COMBINED GROUP

 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005
 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

Revenue 
Revenue outside the Combined Group 66,531 175,293 39,381 23,885 139 - 305,229
Inter-segment revenue - - - - - - -
Total segment revenue 66,531 175,293 39,381 23,885 139 - 305,229
Other unallocated revenue       1,919
Revenue from Ordinary Activities       307,148

Result 
Segment result 38,206 19,392 22,975 10,132 (9,938) - 80,767
Share of net profi t of equity accounted investments - - (527) - - - (527)
Unallocated Expenses       (8,919)
Profi t from ordinary activities before income tax       71,321
Income tax expense       (15,581)
Net Profi t      - 55,740

Depreciation & amortisation 452 404 1,337 75 454 - 2,722
Non-cash expenses other than depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Individually signifi cant items: 
 Reversal of write-down in inventories - - - - - - -
 Write-down of investment in property syndicates - - (573) - - - (573)

Assets 
Segment Assets 90,676 197,216 159,740 153,688 24,361 - 625,681
Equity accounted investments - - 8,974 - - - 8,974
Unallocated corporate assets       3,950
Combined Total Assets       638,605

Liabilities 
Segment Liabilities 4,676 49,881 22,665 10,016 13,769 - 101,007
Unallocated corporate liabilities       169,356
Combined Total Liabilities       270,363

Acquisitions of non-current assets 982 1,013 7,374 45,976 517 - 55,862
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

LAND 
SUBDIVISION

PROPERTY 
DEVELOPMENT RETIREMENTS

 INVESTMENT AND 
FUNDS MANAGEMENT OTHER ELIMINATIONS COMBINED GROUP

 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004
 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

Revenue 
Revenue outside the Combined Group 67,355 168,912 23,974 3,205 2,017 - 265,463
Inter-segment revenue 6,740 - - - - (6,740) -
Total segment revenue 74,095 168,912 23,974 3,205 2,017 (6,740) 265,463
Other unallocated revenue       1,071
Revenue from Ordinary Activities       266,534

Result 
Segment result 31,765 17,499 17,028 797 (7,562) - 59,527
Share of net profi t of equity accounted investments - - (146) - - - (146)
Unallocated Expenses       (6,404)
Profi t from ordinary activities before income tax       52,977
Income tax expense       (16,166)
Net Profi t       36,811

Depreciation & amortisation 212 253 883 61 461 - 1,870
Non-cash expenses other than depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Individually signifi cant items: 
 Reversal of write-down in inventories (914) - - - - - (914)
 Write-down of investment in property syndicates - - 573 - - - 573

Assets 
Segment Assets 79,364 184,607 139,406 100,482 27,140 (147) 530,852
Equity accounted investments - - 7,574 - - - 7,574
Unallocated corporate assets       8,070
Combined Total Assets       546,496

Liabilities 
Segment Liabilities 10,551 26,732 24,213 44,556 12,182 - 118,234
Unallocated corporate liabilities       179,396

Combined Total Liabilities       297,630

Acquisitions of non-current assets 1,956 2,658 8,526 94,266 429 - 107,835
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Other than as disclosed in this report, no matter or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year and up until the date of this report which significantly affect or may significantly affect the operations of the Combined Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Combined Group in subsequent years.

35. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“AIFRS”) will be adopted in the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2006 and will be reflected in the comparative information presented in that report for the year ended 30 June 
2005. In preparation for the transition, opening balances as at 1 July 2004 for the comparative year ending 30 June 2005 will be converted to AIFRS in accordance with new accounting standard AASB 1 ”First Time Adoption of Australian Financial Reporting 
Pronouncements”.

The directors have taken measures to ensure the Combined Group effectively manages this transition to AIFRS and have selected the Chief Financial Officer to manage a special project group.  The project reports to the Audit Committee and has completed the 
planning, assessment, and design phases.  The final implementation phase is nearing completion.

The impact of transition to AIFRS, including the transitional adjustments disclosed in the reconciliation from current Australian GAAP to AIFRS and the selection and application of AIFRS accounting policies, are based on AIFRS that management expect to 
be in place when preparing the first complete AIFRS financial report.  Only a complete set of financial statements and notes together with comparative balances can provide a true and fair representation of the Combined Group’s financial position, results of 
operations, and cash flows in accordance with AIFRS.  This note provides only a summary, and therefore further disclosures and explanations will be required in the first complete AIFRS report for 31 December 2005.

There is significant judgment involved in the preparation and reconciliation from current Australian GAAP to AIFRS, and consequently the final reconciliations presented in the first financial report prepared in accordance with AIFRS may vary materially from the 
reconciliations in this note.  Revisions may be required as a result of:

• Changes resulting from new or revised standards or interpretations;

• Additional guidance on the application of AIFRS in the property industry;

• Changes to the Combined Group’s operations.

Where the application or interpretation of an accounting standard is currently being discussed, the accounting policy adopted reflects management’s current assessment of the likely outcome of those deliberations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

Summary of transitional adjustments
The following table sets out the expected adjustments to the statement of fi nancial position of the Combined Group as at 1July 2004.

 AGAAP ESTIMATED EFFECT OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS AIFRS
RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT 1 JULY 2004 NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets 
 Cash assets  22,738 - 22,738
  Receivables (f) 126,012 (85,040) 40,972
 Inventories   84,150 - 84,150
 Other  10,658 - 10,658
Total current assets   243,558  (85,040)  158,518

Non-current assets 
 Receivables  34,765 - 34,765
 Other fi nancial assets  3,465 - 3,465
 Investments accounted for using the equity method  7,574 - 7,574
 Inventories  (f) 68,346 74,208 142,554
 Investment properties (b) 94,216 (898) 93,318
 Property, plant and equipment (c) 74,085 (19,545) 54,540
 Intangible assets (g) 8,116 76 8,192
 Deferred tax assets (d) 8,070 5,993 14,063
 Other  4,301 - 4,301
Total non-current assets   302,938   59,834  362,772
Total assets   546,496  (25,206)  521,290

Current liabilities 
 Payables  99,623 - 99,623
 Interest-bearing liabilities  10,439 - 10,439
 Current tax liabilities  7,670 - 7,670
 Provisions  2,994 - 2,994
Total current liabilities   120,726 -  120,726

Non-current liabilities 
 Payables  18,906 - 18,906
 Interest-bearing liabilities  136,629 - 136,629
  Deferred tax liabilities (d) 21,058 9,491 30,549
 Provisions  311 - 311
Total non-current liabilities   176,904 9,491  186,395
Total liabilities  297,630 9,491 307,121
Net assets   248,866   (34,697)  214,169

Parent Equity 
 Contributed equity  152,238 - 152,238
 Reserves  - - -
 Retained profi ts  90,212  (30,643)  59,569
Total parent entity interest  242,450 (30,643) 211,807

Outside equity interests 
 Contributed equity  8,609 - 8,609
 Accumulated losses   (2,193)  (4,054) (6,247)
Total outside equity interests  6,416 (4,054) 2,362
Total equity   248,866  (34,697)  214,169
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

The following table sets out the expected adjustments to the statement of fi nancial position of the Combined Group for the year ended 30 June 2005.

 AGAAP ESTIMATED EFFECT OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS AIFRS
RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT 30 JUNE 2005 NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets 
 Cash assets  29,124 - 29,124
 Receivables  112,641 (45,454) 67,187
 Inventories   103,201 - 103,201
 Other  13,205 - 13,205
Total current assets   258,171 (45,454)   212,717

Non-current assets 
 Receivables  39,551 - 39,551
 Other fi nancial assets  3,465 - 3,465
 Investments accounted for using the equity method  8,974 - 8,974
 Inventories   92,677 41,114 133,791
 Investment properties (b) 140,192 (2,137) 138,055
 Property, plant and equipment (c) 78,982 (20,385) 58,597
 Intangible assets  8,094 227 8,321
 Deferred tax assets  3,950 6,515 10,465
 Other  4,549 - 4,549
Total non-current assets   380,434   25,334  405,768
Total assets   638,605  (20,120)  618,485

Current liabilities 
 Payables  71,439 - 71,439
 Interest-bearing liabilities  44 - 44
 Current tax liabilities  4,899 - 4,899
 Provisions  29,413 - 29,413
Total current liabilities   105,795  -  105,795

Non-current liabilities 
 Payables  17,354 - 17,354
 Interest-bearing liabilities  126,200 - 126,200
 Deferred tax liabilities  20,630 13,230 33,860
 Provisions  384 - 384
Total non-current liabilities   164,568 13,230   177,798
Total liabilities  270,363 13,230 283,593
Net assets   368,242  (33,350)  334,892

Parent Equity 
 Contributed equity  304,000 - 304,000
 Reserves  - - -
 Retained profi ts   57,166  (28,919)  28,247
Total parent entity interest  361,166 (28,919) 332,247

Outside equity interests 
 Contributed equity  8,434 - 8,434
 Accumulated losses   (1,358) (4,431)  (5,789)
Total outside equity interests  7,076 (4,431) 2,645
Total equity   368,242   (33,350) 334,892 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

The following table sets out the expected adjustments to the statement of fi nancial performance of the Combined Group for the year ended 30 June 2005.

  CURRENT GAAP ESTIMATED EFFECT OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS AIFRS
RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR 30 JUNE 2005 NOTE $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from sale of goods  244,261 39,586 283,847
Revenue from rendering of services  55,419 - 55,419
Other revenues from ordinary activities  7,468 (2,143) 5,325
Fair value of investment property  - (1,239) (1,239)
Total revenue from ordinary activities  307,148 36,204 343,352

Cost of goods sold  (180,702) (33,094) (213,796)
Marketing expenses  (3,478) - (3,478)
Administration expenses  (12,814) (840) (13,654)
Occupancy expenses  (2,169) - (2,169)
Employee benefi t expenses  (24,717) - (24,717)
Borrowing expenses  (8,920) - (8,920)
Other expenses from ordinary activities   (2,500) 2,294 (206)
Total expenses from ordinary activities  (235,300) (31,640) (266,940)

Share of net profi ts/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method  (527) - (527)
Profi t from ordinary activities before related income tax expense  71,321 4,564 75,885
Income tax (expense)/benefi t relating to ordinary activities  (15,581)  (3,217) (18,798)
Profi t from ordinary activities after related income tax expense  55,740 1,347 57,087

Net profi t attributable to outside equity interests  (804) 377 (427)
Net profi t after income tax attributable to members of the Combined group   54,936  1,724  56,660

The following table sets out the AIFRS impact on retained earnings as at 1 July 2004:

Retained earnings as at 1 July 2004 under AGAAP  90,212 - 90,212
AIFRS reconciliation: 
- Sale of residential development units (f)  (10,832) (10,832)
- Fair value adjustment for investment properties (b)  (898) (898)
- Retirement village depreciation (c)  (23,661) (23,661)
- Reverse write down of retirement village assets (c)  4,116 4,116
- Reversal licence amortisation (g)  76 76
- Tax impact of the above adjustments   10,348 10,348
- AASB 112 impact of tax balance sheet approach (d)  (13,846) (13,846)
    90,212 (34,697) 55,515
Outside equity interest adjustment  - 4,054 4,054
Retained earnings as at 1 July 2004 under AIFRS  90,212 (30,643) 59,569
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 CONTINUED

The key differences in accounting policy that are expected to be adopted in preparing AIFRS reconciliations are listed below. 
The adjustments relate to the Combined Group unless otherwise stated.

(a) Parent entity 

Under UIG Interpretation 1013: ‘Consolidated Financial Reports in relation to Pre-Date Transitional Stapling 
Arrangements’, the Combined Group identifies FKP Limited as the parent entity as at 1 July 2005. 

(b) Investment property

AASB 140: ‘Investment Property’ allows investment properties to be accounted for using either the cost method or 
the fair value method. Investment properties carried at cost will be depreciated over the useful life of the asset and are 
also subject to an impairment test where there is any indication impairment may exist. The related depreciation and 
impairment write down will be expensed in the year it is incurred.

The fair value method requires any movements in the fair value of the investment property to be taken directly to the 
statement of financial performance rather than the asset revaluation reserve, as is currently the practice. The FKP 
Property Trust includes investment properties carried under AGAAP that as a result of acquisition costs are possibly 
carried at above fair value immediately upon acquisition. The Property Trust is adopting the fair value approach under 
AIFRS which will require changes in fair value to go directly to the statement of financial performance. The net fair value 
adjustment required to be written off to retained earnings under the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 is $0.898m. 
The fair value adjustments to be taken to expense for the year ended 30 June 2005 amounted to $1.239m. These 
transactions relate to both the Combined Group and to the Property Trust.

(c) Property, plant & equipment

All Combined Group property, plant and equipment assets are tested to ensure the carrying amount is less than 
recoverable amount and write downs are made to reflect losses arising.

Retirement village assets including communal facilities, buildings and infrastructure under AGAAP are held at cost 
but are not depreciated because they are considered to be in the nature of investment properties with fair values in 
excess of carrying amounts. Under AIFRS AASB 140 the retirement village asset will be reclassified as property, plant 
and equipment and will be subject to depreciation from the date of acquisition. The financial impact of this accounting 
treatment is to reduce the carrying value of these assets at 1 July 2004 from $47.629m down to $23.968m with 
a resulting before tax reduction to retained earnings of $23.661m as at 1 July 2004. The profit impact for the year 
end 30 June 2005 is to increase expenses by $0.840m. The increase in annual charge to depreciation on buildings in 
subsequent years is approximately $0.515m. These buildings are depreciable over 40 years.

A fair value adjustment reducing retirement village assets by $4.116m has been reversed on 1 July 2004 as the assets 
acquired have now been restated under AIRFS. 

(d) Income Tax

AASB 112: ‘Income Taxes’ requires all income tax balances to be calculated using the comprehensive balance sheet 
liability method. Deferred tax items will be calculated by comparing the difference in carrying amounts to tax bases for 
all assets and liabilities and multiplying this by the tax rates expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability settled. Recognition of the resulting amounts are subject to some exceptions, but generally deferred 
tax balances must be calculated for each item in the statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets will only be 
recognised where there exists the probability that future taxable profit will be available to recognise the asset.

Application of the standard will result in the Combined Group having to take to account a deferred tax liability applicable 
to retirement village assets, owned by its subsidiary, Forest Place Group Limited, not accounted for under current 
accounting practices. Whilst the Combined Group has no intention of selling its retirement villages, AASB 112 ‘Income 
Taxes’ suggests that a deferred tax liability may be required on the presumption that the asset will be recovered wholly 
or partly through use. 

The impact on the Combined Group of the application of the balance sheet approach under AASB 112 at 1 July 2004 
is to increase future tax assets by $5.992m and increase deferred tax liabilities by $19.838m. The 30 June 2005 
adjustment increases future tax assets by a further $0.522m, and increases future tax liabilities by $1.635m. 

In addition the Parent Entity is required to push all tax effect balances down to the individual subsidiaries within the 
tax consolidated group. Under AIFRS UIG interpretation 1052: ‘Tax Consolidation Accounting’, these balances will be 
transferred through retained earnings. The amount of this adjustment is to reduce Parent Entity balances of future tax 
assets by $7.258m, to reduce deferred tax liabilities by $20.915m with a balance to retained earnings of $13.657m.

(e) Inventories

Inventories will continue to be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value under the new AASB 102: 
‘Inventories’. All items of inventory are subject to an impairment test. In the event that the circumstances that lead to 
an impairment write-down no longer exist, or are favourable, a reversal of the write-down through the statement of 
financial performance is required to be effected.

The Combined Group accounting policy for inventory already measures inventory at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.

(f) Emerging profi ts – residential developments

The Urgent Issues Group has elected to withdraw UIG Abstract 53: ‘Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale of Residential 
Development Properties’. Pursuant to this Abstract the Combined Group was required to record profits in a given 
accounting period to the extent that the residential apartments under construction had been pre-sold as at the end 
of that period, and taking into account the percentage to which the development had been physically completed. 
The withdrawal of the UIG Abstract 53 means that from 1 July 2005 the Combined Group will only record profit on 
residential developments when the developments are completed and sales are settled. The adjustment to profit before 
tax at 1 July 2004 is to reverse $10.832m in retained earnings reflecting previously recorded profits under the UIG. Of 
this amount $4.339m is recognised in the adjusted AIFRS profit and loss for 30 June 2005, with the remaining profit of 
$6.493m to be recognised in the year ended 30 June 2006 and subsequent years. 
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(g) Intangible assets

AASB 138: ‘Intangible Assets’ generally requires derecognition of all items that do not qualify as identifiable intangible 
assets. The transition rules allow items that were purchased as part of a business combination and do not qualify as an 
identifiable intangible to be transferred back to the related goodwill balance. The treatment of each specific intangible is 
set out below: 

(i)  Goodwill

Amortisation of goodwill will no longer be permitted under the new standard. At the date of adoption of IFRS, 
goodwill will be allocated to cash generating units of the Combined Group and will be impairment tested on initial 
adoption of IFRS and annually thereafter.

Any necessary impairment write down in relation to goodwill will be expensed through the statement of financial 
performance. 

The balance of goodwill at 1 July 2004 is $601,000. Amortised goodwill for the year ended 30 June 2005 of 
$139,000 is to be reversed under AIFRS. There is no impairment of goodwill in the current year.

(ii) Licenses 

All licenses, assessed as having an indefinite useful life will be impairment tested annually in accordance with the 
standards.

Regardless of the useful life classification the directors must assess at the end of each reporting period the 
classification, subsequent method employed and rates used to ensure appropriateness. No adjustment for 
impairment is required under AIFRS, however the asset will no longer be amortised. 

Amortised licences under AGAAP to be reversed on transition to AIFRS amount to $76,000 with an additional 
$12,000 reversed relating to the year ended 30 June 2005. There is no impairment of licences for the current year.

(iii) Rights

Under AIFRS, Rights with a finite life will continue to be amortised over the life of which benefits are expected. At 
the date of adoption of AIFRS, Rights will be allocated to cash generating units of the Combined Group and will 
be impairment tested on initial adoption of AIFRS and annually thereafter. Any potential impairment write down 
will be expensed through the statement of financial performance. There is no financial impact as this approach is 
consistent with existing policy.

(h) Operating Leases

AASB 117: ‘Leases’, requires operating lease income to be recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, 
unless another systematic basis is more reflective of the time pattern in which the benefit derived from the asset is 
diminished. No material impact is expected under AIFRS for the year ended 30 June 2005.

(i) Sale of retirement village assets

Under AASB 118: ‘Revenue’, the recognition of income on the sale of real estate is normally recognised when legal title 
has passed and the risks and benefits of ownership have been transferred. Consideration has been given to this issue in 
relation to the sale of retirement village apartments of the Combined Group under freehold, leasehold and lease licence 
arrangements. It is considered that the risks and benefits of ownership pass to the buyer under each transaction type.

This treatment is consistent with the current AGAAP accounting policies of the Combined Group. No change is required 
to this approach under AIFRS.

(j) Revenue disclosures in relation to the sale of non-current assets

Under AIFRS the revenue recognised in relation to the sale of non-current assets is the net gain on the sale. This is 
in contrast to the AGAAP treatment under which the gross proceeds from the sale are recognised as revenue and 
the carrying amount of the assets sold is recognised as an expense. The net impact on the statement of financial 
performance is nil.

If the policy required by AIFRS was applied during the year ended 30 June 2005 the impact would be to decrease other 
revenue by $2.537m with a corresponding reduction in expenses.

(k) Disclosure and presentation of equity

Under AASB 132: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation of Financial Instruments’ unitholders’ funds may be 
regarded as liabilities as there is no unconditional right to avoid settling a contractual obligation to pay out the Property 
Trusts’ equity to unitholders at the end of the life of the trust. The Combined Group will seek relief under ASIC IR 05-29 
and CO 05/566 to amend the Property Trust constitution to remove the termination date. 

(l) Business Combinations

The Combined Group has elected under AASB 1: ‘First Time Adoption of Australian Financial Reporting Pronouncements’, 
not to apply AASB 3: ‘Business Combinations’, retrospectively.
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In the opinion of the directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP Property Trust:

(a)   the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 30 to 72,  are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, comply with the Accounting Standards 
and the Corporations Regulations and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Combined Group, the Parent Entity and the Property Trust as at 
30 June 2005 and of their operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date;

(b)   there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Combined Group, the Parent Entity and the Property Trust will be able to pay their debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

(c)   the directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the chief executive officer and the chief financial 
officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2005.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors:

 

B W MACDONALD P R BROWN
Chairman  Managing Director & Chief Executive Offi cer

Dated at Brisbane this 25th day of August 2005.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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SCOPE 

The fi nancial report and directors’ responsibility 

The financial report comprises the statements of financial position, statements of financial performance, statements of cash 
flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for both FKP Limited and FKP Funds 
Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP Property Trust, for the year ended 30 June 2005. The Combined Group 
comprises both the Parent Entity and the entities it controlled during that year and FKP Property Trust.

The directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited are responsible for the preparation and true and fair 
presentation of the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, 
and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report. 

Disclosure of information about Director and Executive remuneration 

In accordance with the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Combined Group has disclosed information about the 
remuneration of directors and executives (“remuneration disclosures”), as required by Accounting Standard AASB 1046 
Director and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities, under the heading “Remuneration Report” in pages 23 to 26 of 
the directors’ report. The directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited are responsible for the information 
contained in the remuneration disclosures. The remuneration report also contains other information in page 22 that is not 
required by Accounting Standard AASB 1046, which is not subject to our audit. 

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the FKP Property Group. Our audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the 
financial report is free of material misstatement and the remuneration disclosures comply with Accounting Standard AASB 
1046 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional 
judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than 
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected. 

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting 
requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the FKP Property Group’s financial position, 
and of its performance as represented by the results of its operations and cash flows and whether the remuneration 
disclosures comply with Accounting Standard AASB 1046 and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 

•  examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial report 
and remuneration disclosures, and  

•  assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors. 

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the 
nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls. 

INDEPENDENCE 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

AUDIT OPTION
In our opinion: 

(1) the fi nancial report of FKP Property Group is in accordance with: 

 (a) the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the Combined Group, FKP Limited and the FKP Property Trust 

as at 30 June 2005 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 
  (ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 (b) other mandatory fi nancial reporting requirements in Australia; and 

(2)   the remuneration disclosures required by Accounting Standard AASB 1046, which are contained in pages 23 to 26 of 
the remuneration report of the director’s report, comply with that standard and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

PKF    CG BELLAMY
Brisbane Partnership Partner
Chartered Accountants  
 
Dated at Brisbane this 25th day of August 2005

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF FKP PROPERTY GROUP COMPRISING FKP LIMITED AND FKP PROPERTY TRUST. 
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The information set out below was prepared as at 25 August 2005 and applies equally to the FKP Property Trust and FKP 
Limited, as members are required to hold equal numbers of units in the Property Trust and shares in the Parent Entity under 
the terms of the joint quotation on the Australian Stock Exchange.

LARGEST TWENTY SECURITYHOLDERS
NUMBER OF 
SECURITIES

PERCENTAGE OF
 ISSUED SECURITIES

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 10,785,908 6.12%

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 7,760,051 4.41%

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 7,604,694 4.32%

Spotville Pty Ltd 7,236,596 4.11%

Spotlake Pty Ltd 6,984,689 3.97%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS WSLE Imputation Fnd> 6,606,562 3.75%

Philip Parker Pty Ltd 5,505,338 3.13%

ANZ Nominees Limited <Income Reinvest Plan A/c> 5,365,749 3.05%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS Future Leaders Fund A/c> 4,861,383 2.76%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS Imputation Fund A/c> 4,387,633 2.49%

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 3,182,461 1.81%

AMP Life Limited 3,111,057 1.77%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS WSLE Aust Share Fnd A/c> 2,991,810 1.70%

Seymour Group Pty Ltd 2,971,124 1.69%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS WSLE Industrial Shr A/c> 2,205,070 1.25%

National Nominees Limited 2,079,225 1.18%

HBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 2,067,039 1.17%

Clem Jones Pty Ltd 2,051,624 1.16%

Milton Corporation Limited 1,999,071 1.14%

Queensland Investment Corporation 1,613,386 0.92%

91,370,470 51.90%

The total number of securities on issue as at 25 August 2005 is 176,118,467.

SUBSTANTIAL SECURITYHOLDERS NUMBER OF SECURITIES

Commonwealth Bank of Australia 24,863,245

Philip Parker 12,704,310

 

DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITYHOLDERS

CATEGORY NUMBER OF SECURITIES
NUMBER OF

SECURITYHOLDERS

1 – 1,000 777,391 1,287

1,001 – 5,000 11,561,368 3,924

5,001 – 10,000 14,299,538 1,937

10,001 – 100,000 36,043,608 1,670

100,001 and over 113,436,562 95

176,118,467 8,913

There were 76 securityholders holding less than a marketable parcel.

VOTING RIGHTS
On a show of hands every securityholder, present in person or by proxy or by attorney or by duly authorised representative, 
shall have one vote and on a poll, every securityholder so present shall have one vote for every security held by such 
securityholder.

STOCK EXCHANE
FKP Limited and FKP Property Trust, are jointly quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange with a home exchange of Brisbane.

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK
There is no current on-market buy-back.

SECURITYHOLDERS
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SECURITYHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES
Securityholders with enquiries about their holding should contact the FKP Share Registrar as follows:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 27 Central Plaza One
345 Queen Street, BRISBANE Qld 4000
GPO Box 523 BRISBANE Qld 4001

Telephone: 1300 552 270
Facsimile: (07) 3237 2152
Email: brisbane.services@computershare.com.au

Enquiries of a general nature should be directed to the Company Secretary on 07 3223 3817 and institutional enquiries should 
be directed to the Institutional Relationship Manager on 02 8908 5019.

DISTRIBUTION/DISTRIBUTION
The final distribution/dividend of 15.2 cents per security will be paid on 14 October 2005 to securityholders entitled to receive 
distributions/dividends and registered on 30 June 2005. 

REINVESTMENT PLAN
FKP operates a Distribution Reinvestment Plan which allows members to have their payments used to buy more stapled 
securities in FKP at a discount up to 10% as determined by the Board with no costs. The discount applicable for the 
October 2005 DRP was 2.5%. Any future changes to the DRP will be disclosed to the ASX and notified on the FKP website. 
Application forms can be sent to you by Computershare.

eTree
As an FKP Property Group securityholder, every year you are sent a number of securityholder communications via post. 
Register your email address via www.eTree.com.au/fkp to receive your securityholder communications electronically and FKP 
Property Group will donate $2 to Landcare Australia to support urgent reforestation projects.

ANNUAL REPORT 
Securityholders have a choice as to whether or not they receive the annual report. If you do not wish to receive the 
annual report please advise the Share Registrar in writing. These Securityholders will continue to receive all other 
securityholder information.

The annual report, together with all announcements made by FKP to the ASX are available on the FKP website at www.fkp.com.au

TO CONSOLIDATE SECURITYHOLDINGS
Securityholders who want to consolidate their separate securityholdings into one account should write to the Share Registrar 
or their sponsoring broker, whichever is applicable. 

TAX FILE NUMBERS (TFN)
Whilst not compulsory, most Australian resident Securityholders prefer to quote their TFN to avoid having withholding tax 
deducted from dividends which are unfranked or from distributions paid by property trusts. Securityholders should advise in 
writing their TFN details to the Share Registry or sponsoring broker, whichever is applicable.

SECURITYHOLDER INFORMATION 
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